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Chairman’s Statement
FEREE

EcoGreen is the leading fine
chemicals enterprise in the PRC
Further advanced towards

to be one of the most influential globg

flavour and fragrance suppliers
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Review

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”), | would like to present
the Group’s financial results for the year ended 31 December 2010 to our
shareholders. During the year, the Group recorded turnover of approximately
RMB908 million, representing an increase of 25% compared with 2009.
Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (“EBITDA”)
was RMB214 million, up 23% from RMB174 million in previous year. Profit
attributable to shareholders increased 21% to RMB130 million. Basic earnings
per share reached RMB0.280, compared with RMB0.231 in 2009. To thank
our shareholders for their enduring support, the Board proposed to declare a
final dividend of HK3.8 cents per share. Together with the interim dividend of
HKO0.88 cents per share, the total dividend for the year was HK4.68 cents per
share, compared with HK3.8 cents previously.

2010 was an extraordinary year. Thanks to looser monetary policy and
economic stimulus measures introduced by various governments, the
global economy started to stabilize following the peak of the financial crisis.
Emerging economies, in particular China, stood out with their rapid recovery,
while the U.S. and developed countries in Europe also showed signs of
moderate recovery and stabilization. The cost of raw materials and prices
of finished products climbed to varying degrees as global demand for basic
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necessities still managed to increase markedly compared with 2009. This
occurred despite the fact that economic recovery remained modest and
loose liquidity fuelled inflation in emerging economies. During the year, the
general business environment raised fresh hopes, but companies continued
to face challenges and mounting pressure on the operational front. In the
flavor and fragrance industry, most key players around the world saw their
customer orders returning to normal levels. The size of orders placed with the
Group also grew alongside improved customer demand while our production
output and product prices increased as the year wore on. Turnover rose
25 percentage points year-on-year. This showed that the Group’s business
bounced back following the slowdown in 2009.

The recovery of the Group’s business was driven mainly by the robust
leadership of the Board, the collective efforts of all employees and our
industry reputation. Other supportive factors included advanced technologies
and skills, refined management, adequate financial support and effective
risk control. Leveraging on the growth opportunities arising from the industry
consolidation prompted by the global financial crisis, our Group proactively
reinforced cooperation with its global clients and successfully enhanced its
position in the global market.

During the year under review, sales revenue from our main product
dihydromyrcenol and its woody derivative aroma chemicals continued to
grow, accounting for approximately 25% of total global supply, making the
Group one of the three largest suppliers in the world for this product category.
Sales revenue from new aroma chemicals, including flora, green, dairy and
fruity notes, also grew consistently. These products are expected to become
new growth drivers in the future. Meanwhile, the food additives segment
in the natural extract category also expanded gradually, with its clientele
diversifying from renowned international food processors to downstream
restaurant chains.

The Group’s main clients include some of the largest multinational flavor and
fragrance companies. Amid mounting demand and soaring costs in 2010,
the Group devoted to provide the best service to its clients and maintain
good interactive communications with its customers. The Group also ensured
steady supplies and timely delivery and its products were at the highest
quality. By offering comprehensive solutions for research and development,
procurement, production and supply chain management, the Group secured
the trust and support of its clients. Our clientele, which largely consists of
multinational manufacturers, has broadened to include some local end-user
chains.

The core competitive advantage of the Group lies mainly in its capacity
to achieve and maintain technological advancement. During the year, we
successfully developed new, cutting edge technology by collaborating with a
renowned university in China. The first industrial reactor using this technology
has been built and will begin trial operations in March 2011. It will then be

A0 e p0E - FEARREN M S| B BAR TR B AR
REBRPEELR 587 RAKANMERK®S
EBRTRAEENLF - £/ @ EROEERER
RTRZHEENNERFE - BEHOPEM
REBNODATHER - HNBEBREMTE 2
REBMEXEEMEFTFNITERTRK - AEH
M EETRTFHERNEH  METBREME
HENREBLE2FERSHENIERE - KREN
BRFEETAFAAL LA T25EB D - PR
BN T ARENEBEET TAFNKBHREE
PREHIREBERNRRE N -

AEBEBHOEER  T2EENEEEEN
BNEET  BELTRCHOBRS N - BER
FEITEER  RENTERIN - BENHKEE
B ERONPEFNERRET  FMAT2
REeBERHTEERAMTRNERKS Bk
HWINGR T RETBENEREFNEREIE - 27
TREREZRMIZHAM

AEENTIEER - —SAERERERRIAE
BIFECERNEEREEFARFENRE - A
B AT B AIE L2 2 ERRHEN25% @ F15K
SERATHZREIETRBOEM=AHERE
— - HEARANTEE ERRBANMEANNE
B REVEFEHMEECEERSREN - BEX
RFTHEBIEBRE o 1o - KRR R A
RmHEBEEERTSHE  TPEAS LE#HR
B BB A0E R I TR A R T 4% o 0 B SR
%k -

FEENTIERFHBEEMEANENBRER
BEREE - FR - BHFRNER - KRR
B DABFURREH A EERCEEP
WENES  ERHERE XERFMBE L
FHNEBER  SEPRMANME KRB - £E
DEMHEREIEREEFERBRIRT RS - KW
RIS TEPHERME - RRPEABRIBER
FIARTS BV S BEUE R TY B 15 B B3 78 B AP ST (R B 3
JTHYE AR o

AEBEWZOBEF R —EREREMRTR
MeEL - iR AEEEBEANMEAES
& - IR EHAERIREE P AFRLMLN
A TEEN - URRMEBNEETIELLRE
RECKRLRETK  BE_T——F=AMiET

\

\
\

[
I
ANNUAL REPORT 2010 - —2—Z4&4# /5

)



Chairman’s Statement
FEREE

launched officially and begin contributing to the Group’s revenue in 2011.
We aim to upgrade all existing facilities for our main products gradually with
this new technology in order to raise production output and improve cost
efficiency. Effective implementation of the new technology is expected to
strengthen our industrial capabilities for a significant period of time.

Meanwhile, the Group has also completed the construction and installation
work for the first phase of the Changtai expansion in Fujian Province. A trial
run will be conducted in April 2011. Phase | of the Changtai Plant, which
begins production soon, will mainly engage in the production of the new
aroma chemical series, and some special chemicals including pharmaceutical
intermediates, agrochemical and other functional chemicals. All of these new
products will contribute to the business growth of the Group.

We are still using botanic essential oils, which are rich natural products in
China, as major raw materials, of which turpentine accounts for the largest
share. Gum turpentine has an inelastic demand in the market place with its
extensive application. As a naturally renewable resource, supply is affected by
weather conditions and manpower resources for tapping. In 2010, the market
price of gum turpentine hovered at historic highs due to rising demand and
anticipated inflation. This added considerable pressure to our operations in
the areas of raw material procurement, inventory management, production
costs and working capital. Nevertheless, we still managed to secure a stable
supply of raw materials, thanks to our long-standing national procurement
network, our supply chain management strategies and our upstream
integration plan. Furthermore, we carefully controlled our raw material
inventory, and established a new, orderly price adjustment mechanism for
sales of finished products with the support and understanding of our clients.
Therefore, we limited the impact of raw material cost fluctuations on our
profitability to certain extent, and hope to maintain stable profit margins for
related products in the medium to long-term. Meanwhile, moves to introduce
new products with higher margins helped to mitigate some of the negative
impact caused by rising costs. In 2010, our gross profit margin fell by just 1
percentage point to 24.7%, compared with 25.7% in 2009. High raw material
prices have also curbed or even eliminated some industry peers, in particular
those who proved unable to consolidate their raw material resources or
suffered from poor management, ineffective economies of scale or outdated
technology. This phenomenon will help our Group to grow further.

With regards to production expansion, technological innovation and strategic
procurement of raw materials in the coming years, we completed a new
three-year syndicated loan of US$31 million in 2010 at relatively low cost, with
the support of some international banks. This helped the Group to effectively
secure funding for development of our existing business and served as a
natural hedge against future foreign exchange risk on our export income
given expectations that the Renminbi will continue to appreciate against other
currencies.
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By upholding its “people-oriented” and “technology-led” business philosophy,
while adhering to the principle of “green chemistry” standards in its operation,
our Group strictly complied with various domestic and international industry
rules and regulations, and used fully-automatic, state-of-the-art production
facilities. The Group therefore maintained safe production and operations
during the year.

Under the technology-intensive business model, the Group recruits high
caliber personnel with relevant academic qualifications. The number of
staff per unit output is relatively low in our plant. We have therefore offered
attractive remuneration which surpasses the industry average in China. The
impact of the minimum wage law, introduced by the Chinese government
in 2010, was very limited. The staff turnover rate was also relatively low. To
retain and employ more talent for our development needs, we will conduct
timely reviews and adjust salary levels and incentives for our workforce in line
with the growth of our business and improvement of social living standards. In
addition, our Group will continue to commit resources to specific areas where
necessary to boost production output, maintain a safe working environment
and improve environmental protection.

Outlook

2010 was a year of robust rebound for the Group, following multiple
challenges brought by the economic crisis in 2009. With regards to 2011,
we have seen further signs of economic recovery in the U.S., fueled by the
latest round of quantitative easing policies (QE2) by Washington. At the same
time, the world’s second-biggest economy, China, is expected to continue
expanding at a rate of over 7 percent. It would appear that the global
economy is on the road to steady recovery. However, many uncertainties
and challenges remain, including the ongoing sovereign debt crisis in
Europe, geopoalitical turmoil in the Middle East, the fallout from the Japanese
earthquake which struck in March, and anticipated inflation around the world.
All these factors will cast a shadow over economic recovery. In 2011, we
see dangers as well as opportunities. Therefore, we are cautiously optimistic
about the future of the global industry, while remaining strongly confident in
the growth potential of our Group. We will remain highly vigilant to the many
risks that abound.

We expect the Group to benefit from a steady increase in flavour and
fragrance product prices driven by growing demand and anticipated inflation.
We also see the sovereign debt crisis in Europe, geopolitical turmoil in
the Middle East and earthquake disaster in Japan potentially speeding up
restructuring of global industry. We may be in a position to better capture
new opportunities spurred by industry consolidation given we are based in
China, a country which enjoys both political and economic stability. As a
major aroma chemical supplier with global influence, our Group will strive as
always to play to its strengths and seize business opportunities. We are on
the right side of the global supply chain for the flavor and fragrance industry
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to benefit from transformations within the global industry. We hope to meet
market demand with our enlarged product and service portfolio, backed by a
larger scale of production and advanced technologies. In so doing, we will be
able to continue enhancing our comprehensive competitiveness.

Based on the above, we plan to cope with future challenges and capture new
opportunities by using the following strategies and measures:

Consolidating supply chain

Leveraging on its leading position in turpentine processing, the Group
will channel resources towards our terpenic aroma chemicals operations.
We will continue with our upstream integration along the supply chain by
building strategic partnerships with raw material suppliers and collaborating
with upstream forestry owners to development renewable resources in a
sustainable way. By moving our management of raw material procurement
closer to its primary source, we can secure a safe and steady supply of
raw materials in the long run. We can also try to lock in costs of major raw
materials through quarterly stockpiling on site, to achieve greater returns from
better economies of scale in raw material resource management.

Innovative technology to boost production efficiency

Our unique, innovative technology and industry experience form our core
competence. From 2011 onwards, the Group will incorporate the latest global
technologies in its production and achieve large-scale commercialization.
This revolutionary technological advancement will significantly boost our
production efficiency and curb energy consumption, thus bringing down
production costs. Such advancements can be introduced to existing facilities
to greatly enhance productivity and minimize related capital expenditure.

Balanced expansion of production facilities

Phase | of the Changtai Plant will commence production in the first half of
2011. The plant will mainly produce special chemicals including a new series
of aroma chemicals and pharmaceutical intermediates, agrochemical and
other functional chemicals. This will lay a solid foundation for new business
in the realm of special chemicals. The output of our Xinglin Plant is also
expected to increase further as new clients in the food additives sector
appear and we launch new products.

Effective operation management system

We will reinforce our operation management and internal controls to meet
with market requirements in corporate governance, so as to strengthen risk
controls and support long-term business growth. All those measures will
include, but not be limited to, conducting regular reviews on management
duties and performance, strategy and risk management, as well as corporate
governance. We will take effective steps to further control costs, working
capital and capital expenditure, while refining the capital structure to control
risk, and boost the Group’s overall profitability.
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Adhering to the principles of green chemistry

The Group adheres to its principles of green chemistry and will remain
committed to serving as a role model for green chemistry players in
the industry. We will continue our efforts with regards to energy saving,
consumption and emission reduction. While seeking to boost our overall
competitiveness, the Group will also comply strictly with both domestic and
international standards (especially European “REACH”) in the fine chemical
industry. We will also adhere to all environmental and resource protection
regulations. By doing this, we can meet the requirements of all international
customers in terms of supplier qualifications and fulfill our corporate social
responsibilities.

Merger and acquisition

While developing our existing business, we will continue to explore
opportunities for faster business expansion through horizontal mergers and
acquisitions that create synergies. We will prioritize vertical integration of
resources and horizontal acquisition of businesses of a similar nature. We
aim to develop markets with strong demand, insufficient supply or weaker
competition to achieve greater expansion along our existing industry chain
and rapid and sustainable growth of our businesses.

We see a future full of opportunities. Based on our solid business
foundations, we will offer our clients a larger variety of products and value-
added services. By leveraging on our industry reputation, solid clientele and
advanced production technologies, we can ensure faster business expansion
and greater global market share. Apart from organic growth of our existing
business, we also look forward to partnerships and merger opportunities to
grow our scale and the value of our overall business. We will also step up
efforts to ward off risks and confront challenges. By doing this, we will have
full confidence in our future.

Acknowledgement

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere gratitude to all
our shareholders, customers, suppliers and staff, whose consistent support
is crucial to our growth and success. | would also like to thank all Board
members for their great support and precious advice during the year.

| believe that through our collective efforts, the Group will achieve greater
business growth, and eventually establish itself as a major global aroma
chemical supplier and an influential intermediate technology provider. We
will also be a leading supplier of safe food products which complies with
international food safety standards. All this will allow us to generate greater
returns for our shareholders.

Yang Yirong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2011
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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iInproviding building blocks
for flavour, fragrance
and pharmaceutics
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ZRIRACE Em
EAER - BRR
SENEREED

Final Dividend

The Directors will propose at the annual general meeting to be held on 8 June
2011 payment of final dividend of HK3.8 cents per share for the year ended
31 December 2010 to be payable in cash on 22 June 2011 to shareholders
whose names are listed on the register of members of the Company on 8
June 2011. Together with the interim dividend of HK0.88 cents (2009: HKO0.8
cents) per share, this will bring the total dividend distribution for the year to
HK4.68 cents (2009: HKB.8 cents) per share.

Closure of Register of Members

The transfer book and register of members of the Company will be closed
from Friday, 3 June 2011 to Wednesday, 8 June 2011, both days inclusive,
during which period no transfer of shares will be effected. In order to qualify
for the proposed final dividend, all transfers documents accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share
registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited, at 26th
Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later
than 4:00 p.m. on Thursday, 2 June 2011.
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Business Review

The Group derives its revenue primarily from the manufacturing and trading
businesses. The manufacturing business includes the production and sales of
aroma chemicals, natural extracts and intermediates. Breakdown of revenue

by operating segments is as follow:

EBDH

AEENBRSTEREBEERESERR - FEX
BEREERHEENB(LBm - RARRY LT
E1R8 - LB AR AMTANT ¢

2010 2009
—E-=F ZEENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
Revenue €
Manufacturing HE 828,351 655,959
Trading = 79,900 72,535
Total revenue U 908,251 728,494
A further breakdown of turnover by products are as follows: EmEEBOWNEOT :
Turnover
R
2010 2009
—E-EF ZEENF
RMB’000 % of total RMB’000 % of total
T (EEEE ] v (H#E%E
AR AL AR Bipkt
Manufacturing HE
Aroma chemicals BHEER 641,046 70% 486,651 67%
Natural extracts KRR 127,032 14% 113,084 15%
Intermediates AR Eg 60,273 7% 56,224 8%
828,351 91% 655,959 90%
Trading g5 79,900 9% 72,535 10%
Turnover =2 908,251 100% 728,494 100%
Business Review XK EEE

In 2010, both the aroma chemicals business and flavour chemicals business
recorded a prosperous growth. The growth for our three major products
within the manufacturing business reached 26%. The Group’s turnover for
the year was RMB908 million, an increase of 25% from the previous year.
Excluding contributions from the supplementary ‘trading and resource
management’ business, core growth for our three major products even
reached 26%. Profit attributable to shareholders increased to RMB130 million

by 21% from the previous year. Basic earnings per share were approximately

RMB28.0 cents.

BE_Z-ZF ARENHHERERRRER
tRIRSSRAER - REBEFEEETER.08
BILARE  BEFEMN25% - MREHEIEKE
SHREREE SMOER - = KXERIERMNZL
HREED26% - REEMEHEFE1IBTAR
B WMEAF EF21% - BRERBFL A281IUA
R¥ o
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Business Review (continued)
Manufacturing

()

(i)

Aroma Chemicals

Aroma Chemicals continued to be the Group’s core products
during the year under review, and constituted a stable and major
income source for the Group. Aroma chemicals are primarily used as
functional ingredients and key components in many daily consumer
goods, with a combined positive effect of its diversified applications
and the development in the emerging markets, market demand
continued to rise, the aroma chemical products continued to be the
major growth driver of the Group’s operation.

For the year ended 31 December 2010, with increases in both
orders placed by existing customers and on the selling prices,
turnover of aroma chemicals increased by 32% to RMB641 million
(2009: RMB487 million), accounting for 70% of the Group’s turnover
(2009: 67%) and a gross profit margin of 24.3% (2009: 24.2%).
Dihydromyrcenol was the major contributor which brought a revenue
of RMB172 million to the Group. Its sales was up 35% over previous
year and accounted for 27% of the total revenue on this product
category.

In addition, certain new aroma and food flavour chemicals launching
in preceding years are getting well received by the market. The new
series of products have already contributed RMB196 million to the
Group’s revenue, with a profit margin amounted to approximately
33%, which is higher than the profit margin of our fragrance chemicals
products and represents one of our new sources in profitability for our
future growth.

Natural Extracts

In respect of the Natural Extracts products, apart from existing natural
pharmaceutical raw materials, the Group has been actively engaged
in the development of food additives business for the production of
food ingredients, fast food, frozen food and pet nutrition food, which
is produced with purification and bio-conversion technologies from
natural produces. Natural extracts mainly include seafood, meat and
mushroom extracts.

During the year under review, the Group’s natural extract products
maintained steady growth. The market demand for existing natural
pharmaceutical raw materials just remained stable. Despite the sale
of the new food additives business was up 70% over previous year,
this business has still been advancing towards the economies of
scale. Turnover from sale on Natural Extracts sustained at RMB127
million (2009: RMB113 million), accounting for 14% (2009:15%) of the
Group’s sales. Gross profit margin amounted to 23.8%, (2009:26.4%).
The performance of Natural Cinnamic Aldehyde was relatively
outstanding among other Natural Extracts. This product contributed
revenue of RMB43.2 million to the Group and its sales surged by 11%
over the corresponding period last year and accounted for 34% of the
total revenue for this product category.

SOEE )

£E
Y

(i)

FEIESam

RACEFER  FTECBREBEX/E
SEZROER  AEERETRENE
ZWA - fERZER T LBHEHEE mHfR
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BRFR o
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Business Review (continued)

Manufacturing (continued)

(iii) Intermediates
Besides the chiral pharmaceuticals and intermediates, the Group
also applies similar advanced technologies of synthesis to produce
agrochemical intermediates, which will later be turned into the kind of
eco-pesticide.

During the year under review, due to the restriction of the co-
operative production capacity and the slow-down of the market
demand, orders for the Group’s intermediate products maintained
steady growth. Turnover increased 7% year-on-year to RMB60.3
million (2009: RMB56.2 million), accounting for 7% (2009: 8%) of
the Group’s sales. Gross profit margin was 48.9% (2009: 56.1%).
The gross profit margin of this product category of the Group was
still higher than its general peers in the industry. 3-Phenylpropanal
Aldehyde is the major intermediate produced by the Group. Sales for
this product accounted for 37% of the overall sales of this product
category and contributed revenue of RMB22.1 million to the Group.

Trading

The trading products include gum rosin, gum turpentine and other special
botanic essential oils and their by-products. This year, revenue from the
Group’s trading business was up 10% year-on-year to RMB79.9 million,
accounting for 9% of the Group’s turnover. The contribution to gross profit
was approximately RMB9.0 million.

Financial Review

Turnover

The Group’s recorded a stable growth of 25% in its turnover for the year
ended 31 December 2010, which amounted to RMB908 million. The Group’s
Phase Il expansion of Haichang Plant was completed in 2008. It contributed
to the new production capacity in the preceding years and resulted in the
sustainable growth of the Group’s revenue. Meanwhile, the rise in the selling
prices of the existing products also contributed to the increase in the Group’s
operating income. Geographically, domestic sales of the Group’s fine
chemical products increased 18% from 2009 whereas overseas sales of the
Group’s fine chemical products increased by 38%.

Gross Profit

During the year under review, the Group’s gross profit totaled RMB225
million, up 20%. Gross profit margin slightly dropped to 24.7% from 25.7%
in 2009. Besides the strict cost control measures taken by the Group, the
price of some products has been raised so as to shift partial cost pressure to
customers. The strike in the raw material prices led to the slightly slump of the
gross profit margin.
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Financial Review (continued)

Gross Profit (continued)

By the products category, the gross profit margin of aroma chemicals
sustained at 24.3% in 2010 from 24.2% in 2009, while natural extracts
decreased from 26.4% in 2009 to 23.8% this year. The profit margin of
intermediates decreased from 56.1% in 2009 to 48.9%. The gross profit
margin of trading products increased from 11.2% in 2009 to 11.3%.

Operating Income and Expense

The selling and marketing expenses in 2010 accounted for 2.6% of the
Group’s turnover (2009: 2.7%), while administrative expenses represented
4.0% of turnover (2009: 4.2%). The Group’s operation expense has dropped
thanks to effective cost-cutting measures.

Finance Costs - Net

The net finance costs decreased by approximately RMB4.1 million compared
with last year’s. This was mainly attributable to the Group’s net foreign
exchange gains on financing activities of RMB1.7 million (2009: RMBO0.2
million) in this year. Besides, interest expense capitalized been increased to
RMB2.5 million from RMB1.4 million in 2009.

Income Tax Expense

Income tax expense of the Group in 2010 was RMB22.1 million representing
an increase of RMB8.8 million compared with that of previous year. Effective
tax rate of the Group is 14.5% (2009: 11.0%)

Profit for the Year

Profit for the year in 2010 was RMB130 million, representing a increase
of 21% compared with RMB107 million in 2009. EBITDA for the year was
RMB214 million, an increase of 23% from 174 million in 2009.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

During the year under review, the Group’s primary source of funding mainly
involved the cash generated from operating activities. For the year ended
31 December 2010, net cash generated from operating activities amounted
to RMB44.4 million (2009: RMB179.3 million). With the financial resources
obtained from the Group’s operations, the Group had utilized RMB56.9
million (2009: RMB43.5 million) in the investing activities. During the year
under review, the net cash inflow from financing activities amounted to
RMB22.2 million (2009: net cash outflow of RMB7.7 million).
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Financial Review (continued)

Liquidity and Financial Resources (continued)

As at 31 December 2010, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of
approximately RMB524 million (2009: RMB515 million). The average inventory
turnover days, average trade receivable turnover days and average trade
payable turnover days were 52 days, 100 days and 61 days respectively (2009:
54 days, 100 days and 48 days).

The Group’s financial position remains very solid and healthy during the
year under review. As at 31 December 2010, the net current assets and
the current ratio of the Group were approximately RMB695 million (2009:
RMB502 million) and 2.8 (2009: 2.4) respectively.

As at 31 December 2010, the Group had borrowings of approximately
RMB390 million (2009: RMB353 million). Among them, outstanding short-
term borrowings amounted to RMB206 million (2009: RMB253 million). As at
31 December 2010, the Group’s ratio of total borrowings to total equity, was
approximately 41% (2009: 42%) and the Group’s net cash balance, being
cash and cash equivalents less borrowings amounted to RMB134 million
(2009: RMB162 million).

With the positive cash inflow from the Group’s operations, its available
banking facilities and its existing cash resources, the Group has very strong
liquidity and sufficient financial resources to meet its commitments, working
capital requirements and future investments for expansion.

Charge on assets

As at 31 December 2010, bank deposits of RMB58.0 million (2009: RMB27 .1
million) were pledged to secure the Group’s bank borrowings. As at 31
December 2009, bank deposits of RMB27.1 million and certain property,
plant and equipment of the Group with an aggregate net book value of about
RMB84.9 million were pledged to secure the Group’s bank borrowings.

Contingent liabilities
As at 31 December 2010, the Group had no significant contingent liabilities.

Capital commitment

As at 31 December 2010, the Group had capital commitments of
approximately RMB25.2 million (2009: RMB21.3 million) in respect of
purchases of property, plant and equipment, construction-in-progress,
product development projects and land use rights.
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Financial Review (continued)

Treasury Policies and Exposure to Fluctuations in Exchange Rates
The Group’s assets, liabilities, revenues and transactions are mainly
denominated in Renminbi, United States dollars and Hong Kong dollars
with its operation mainly in the PRC. As at 31 December 2010, the Group’s
borrowings of approximately RMB192 million and RMB180 million were
denominated in Renminbi and United States dollars, respectively. The
Group’s pledged bank deposit and cash and cash equivalents denominated
in Renminbi amounted to RMB58.0 million and RMB510 million respectively
of the total balance, with the remaining balance of approximately RMB14.0
million mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars and United States dollars.

The Group’s foremost exposure to the foreign exchange fluctuations was
caused by the revaluation of Renminbi during the year under review. The
Group’s export sales are, in majority, denominated in United States dollars.
Nevertheless, the Group has not experienced any material difficulties or
effects on its operations or liquidity as a result of fluctuations in currency
exchange rates during the year. The Group will conduct periodic review
of its exposure to foreign exchange risk and may use proper financial
instrument and financing arrangement for hedging purpose when considered
appropriate.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2010, the Group had 358 full-time employees, among
whom 353 were based in the PRC. For the year under review, the total
employment costs incurred for 2010 including directors’ emoluments
amounted to RMB30.3 million. The Group has established its human resources
policies and procedures with a view to deploy the incentives and rewards of
the remuneration system. The remuneration package offered to the staff is
appropriate for the duties and in line with the prevailing market terms. Staff
benefits, including medical coverage and provident funds, are provided to
employees. The Group has also established effective performance evaluation
system in which employees are properly rewarded on a performance-related
basis under the Group’s salary and bonus system. The Group has adopted
a share option scheme for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards
to the management, key technician and other eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations.
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Corporate Governance Report
TEERRE

The board of directors of EcoGreen Fine Chemicals Group Ltd. (the
“Company”) (the “Board”) acknowledges the importance of and benefit from
good corporate governance practices and is committed to improving the
corporate governance practices in order to enhance better transparency
and to ensure that business activities and decision making processes are
regulated in a proper manner to safeguard the interests of shareholders.

The Company has adopted and applied the code provisions (the “Code
Provisions”) set out in the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the
“CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the then prevailing Rules (the
“Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) throughout the year ended 31
December 2010. The Company periodically reviews its corporate governance
practices to ensure its continuous compliance with the CG Code. In the year
under review, the Company has complied with most of the Code Provisions
save for the deviations from the Code Provisions A.2.1. The following
summarises the Company’s corporate governance practices and explains
deviations, if any, from the CG Code.

The Board

Responsibilities

The Board is accountable to the shareholders for leading the Group in
a responsible and effective manner. The Board provides leadership and
formulates strategic policies and plans of the Group with a view to enhancing
shareholder interests while the day-to-day operations of the Group are
delegated to the management.

The Board reserves for its decisions all major matters of the Group, including:
objectives and overall strategies of the Group; annual budgets and financial
matters; equity related transactions such as issue of shares/options and
repurchase of shares; dividend; raising of capital loan; determination of major
business strategy; merger and acquisition; major investment; annual financial
budget in turnover, profitability and capital expenditure; review and approval
of financial performance and announcement; and matters as required by laws
and ordinance.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information as well as
the advice and services of the Company Secretary, with a view to ensuring
that Board procedures and all applicable rules and regulation are followed.
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TEERRE

The Board (continued)

Responsibilities (continued)

Each Director is normally able to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expense, upon making request
to the Board.

The Directors are continually updated with the regulatory requirements,
business activities and development of the Company to facilitate the discharge
of their responsibilities. Through regular Board meetings, all Directors are kept
abreast of the conduct, business activities and development of the Company.

The management has the obligation to supply the Board and the various
Committees with adequate information in a timely manner to enable the
members to make informed decisions. Each Director has separate and
independent access to the Company’s senior management to acquire more
information than is volunteered by management and to make further enquiries
if necessary.

The functions delegated to management are periodically reviewed. Approval
has to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions
entered into by the management.

Composition

The Board currently comprises a total of nine members including five
Executive Directors, one Non-executive Director (“the NED”) and three
Independent Non-executive Directors (“the INED”). The Board’s composition
covers a balance of expertise, skills and industry experience so as to bring
in valuable contributions and advices for the development of the Group’s
business. The NED and INED together have substantial experience in fields of
auditing, legal matters, business, accounting, corporate internal control and
regulatory affairs. Through active participation in Board meetings, taking the
lead in managing issues involving potential conflict of interests and serving
on Board committees, all NED and INED make various contributions to the
effective direction of the Group.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each INED of
his independence pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers all INED to be independent in accordance with the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.
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The Board (continued)

Board meetings

The Board meets regularly throughout the year to discuss the overall strategy
as well as the operation and financial performance of the Group. A total of
four board meetings were held during the year. The individual attendance
record of each Director at the meetings of the Board, the Remuneration
Committee and the Audit Committee during the year ended 31 December
2010 is set out below:

B2

EEEes
EEENFEATHGERTAEEREER . &
BRUBRE - FRARBANAESSRH -
BE-—T THE+-_A=+-AIEE &5
NEEEEE FHZSeeRRERZEES
S HESNT

Attendance/Number of meetings

HEBITEERRE
Remuneration Audit
Name of Director Note Board Committee Committee
EEpE {hEsd 5xg FHZEEE EREEE
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS BITES
Mr. Yang Yirong (Chairman) BRELE(FE) 4/4 N/A N/A
TiEA TEA
Mr. Gong Xionghui BEIf MBS 4/4 N/A N/A
TiEHA NiE
Ms. Lu Jiahua ERELLT 4/4 N/A N/A
TiEA TiEA
Mr. Lin Like MATAEE 3/4 N/A N/A
TiE A TEA
Mr. Han Huan Guang BRI E 0] 4/4 1/1 N/A
A
NED FHITES
Mr. Feng Tao (Vice Chairman) R E(EIEE) 0/4 N/A N/A
TiEA TEA
INED BYFEHTES
Mr. Yau Fook Chuen (iv) (v) ERaEfE (i (iii) 4/4 1/1 4/4
Mr. Wong Yik Chung, John (v) (vi) HEBREE (iii) (iv) 4/4 11 4/4
Mr. Zheng Lansun (v) (vi) BRI A (iii) (iv) 0/4 0/1 0/4

Notes:

i) Chairman of the Remuneration Committee.
i Chairman of the Audit Committee.

(
(ii
(
(

i) Member of the Remuneration Committee.

iv) Member of the Audit Committee.

i) FINEBEER -
i) ERREEERE -
i) TMEEEKE
iv) ERZEEKE -

o
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The Board (continued)

Board meetings (continued)

Notices of regular board meetings are served to all Directors at least 14
days before the meetings while reasonable notice is generally given for
other Board meetings. Agenda and Board papers together with complete
and reliable information are sent to all Directors at least 3 days before each
Board meeting to keep the Directors apprised of the latest developments
and financial position of the Company and to enable them to make informed
decision. Minutes of all Board meetings and committee meetings are kept by
the Company Secretary. Draft minutes are normally circulated to Directors for
comment within a reasonable time after each meeting and the final version is
open for Directors’ inspection.

According to current Board practice, any material transaction which involves
a conflict of interests for a substantial shareholder or a Director, will be
considered and dealt with by the Board at a duly convened board meeting.
The Company’s Articles of Association also contain provisions requiring
Directors to abstain from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at
meetings for approving transactions in which such Directors or any of their
associates have a material interest.

Appointment, rotation and re-election of Directors

The Board as a whole is responsible for reviewing the Board composition,
developing and formulating the relevant procedures for nomination and
appointment of Directors, monitoring the appointment and succession
planning of Directors and assessing the independence of INED. The Board
reviewed its own structure, size and composition regularly to ensure that
it has a balance of expertise, skills and experience appropriate to the
requirements of the business of the Company. There were no meeting held
for the nomination of Directors during the year.

In accordance with the CG Code and the Company’s Articles of Association,
all Directors are subject to retirement by rotation once every three years and
being eligible, can offer themselves for re-election.
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The Board (continued)

Term of appointment of NED and INED

All NED and INED were appointed for an initial term of not more than
one year and will be renewable automatically for successive term of one
year until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing
served by either party or the other. All NED and INED are subject
to retirement by rotation once every three years and are subject to
re-election.

Indemnification

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal
actions against its Directors and officers. The Board reviews the extent of this
insurance annually.

Segregation of Rules of Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer (“CEO”)

The Company has not yet adopted A.2.1. Under the code provision A.2.1 of
the CG Code, the roles of Chairman and CEO should be separate and would
not be performed by the same individual. The division of responsibilities
between the Chairman and CEO should be clearly established and set out in
writing.

The Company does not presently have any officer with the title CEO. At
present, Mr. Yang Yirong, being the Chairman and the President of the
Company, is responsible for the strategic planning, formulation of overall
corporate development policy and running the business of the Group as well
as the duties of Chairman. The Board considers that, due to the nature and
extent of the Group’s operations, Mr. Yang is the most appropriate chief
executive because he possesses in-depth knowledge and experience in
fine chemicals business and is able to ensure the sustainable development
of the Group. Besides, he is the founder, the chairman and the controlling
shareholder of the Group since its establishment and till now. Notwithstanding
the above, the Board will review the current structure from time to time. When
at the appropriate time and if candidate with suitable leadership, knowledge,
skills and experience can be identified within or outside the Group, the
Company may make the necessary amendments.
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Board Committees

The Board has established two committees, namely the Remuneration
Committee and the Audit Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the
Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the Company are established
with defined written terms of reference which deal clearly with their authority
and duties.

The chairmen of the committees will report the findings and recommendations
of the committees to the Board after each meeting. The minutes of all
meetings of the committees are circulated to the Board for information.

Remuneration Committee

Mr. Han Huan Guang is the chairman while all the three INED, namely, Mr.
Yau Fook Chuen, Mr. Wong Yik Chung, John and Dr. Zheng Lansun are the
members of the Remuneration Committee.

The primary responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include
establishing a formal and transparent procedures for developing policy on
the remuneration of the Executive Directors and senior management, making
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure
for the remuneration of Directors and senior management, ensuring the
remuneration packages are sufficient to attract and retain the Directors to run
the Company successfully, to avoid over-paying and ensure no Director or
any of his associates will participate in deciding his own remuneration.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee met once to
review and consider the remuneration policy and packages, including any
discretionary management bonus of the Executive Directors and senior
management by reference to market conditions, performance of the Group
and the individual and corporate goals.
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Board Committees (continued)

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises the three INED, namely, Mr. Yau Fook
Chuen, Mr. Wong Yik Chung, John and Dr. Zheng Lansun. Mr. Yau is the
chairman of the Audit Committee and he possesses recongised professional
qualifications in accounting required by the Listing Rules.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

(@) To review the financial statements and reports and consider any
significant or unusual items raised by the qualified accountant or
external auditor before submission to the Board;

(b) To review and monitor the external auditor’s independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process by reference
to the work performed by the external auditor, their fees and terms
of engagement, and make recommendation to the Board on the
appointment, re-appointment and removal of external auditor; and

(¢) To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s financial
reporting system, internal control system and risk management
system and associated procedures.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee held four meetings with
the senior management and the Company’s external auditor to review the
interim and annual financial statements, discuss internal controls matters and
the re-appointment of the external auditor. The Audit Committee has also
reviewed the Group’s accounting principles and practices, listing rules and
statutory compliance and financial reporting matters.

BEEZERH)
EREES
V§AEE BB IENITESAEK  HRA
BELE  =RREERDWHEEL - ES‘EE
%%V%fgif HEmALEMMRBFEE 2R
BESHER -

BERZERTERERRNATRA

(@) MEFSEIMHHRELRER - BHHY
BHRERBEAREERTMEEERES
M SNE A BRED IR H M EA KT B HIE
H

(b) IRREHNRIZEA 2 T1E - REEE A M5
RIE - ImET REERESNEZ SR = S B L
%gﬂ&ﬁ%ﬁ&r DA - WHINEIZE
MeZHE  BERBERAEESREHER
BR R

©  WEARTHGEBRLS  ABERRA
0 &R IS BB AFR A R B RN
5 -

REBEFEAN  BREZELHESAEEABRA

T&I\Hﬂﬁyﬁﬁﬁi;ﬁ%ﬁm’ﬂ;‘% iR R RN R
K BE R INEZ BB S
H e %*Zéé-\@ﬁﬁmﬁﬂﬁ%ﬂ‘K%Z@?rEE'Jiﬁ\
B ETRRAIREMER 2 BT ARMBE
HEH -

ANNUAL REPORT 2010 - —Z—ZFF# @



Corporate Governance Report

TEER|E

Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding the Directors’
securities transactions on terms not less exacting than the required standard
set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.
Specific enquiry has been made to all Directors and all the Directors have
confirmed that they have complied with all the relevant requirements as set
out in the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2010.

Responsibilities in Respect of the Financial
Statements

The management provides such explanation and information to the Board to
facilitate an informed assessment of the financial and other information put
before the Board for approval.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements which give a true and fair view and the Board is responsible for
presenting a balanced, clear and understandable assessment of annual and
interim reports, price-sensitive announcements and other financial disclosures
required under the Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.
Meanwhile, the Directors are responsible for ensuring that appropriate
accounting policies are selected and applied consistently; and that judgments
and estimates made are prudent and reasonable. The Board was not aware
of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that might cast
significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. The
Board has prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis.
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Internal Controls

The Board has overall responsibilities for maintaining a sound and effective
internal control system of the Group. The system includes a defined
management structure with limits of authority, safeguards its assets against
unauthorized use or disposition, ensures the maintenance of proper
accounting records for the provision of reliable financial information for
internal use or for publication, and ensures compliance with relevant laws and
regulations. The system is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance against material misstatement or loss, and to manage the risks
of failure in the Group’s operational systems and in the achievement of the
Group’s objectives.

The Board periodically conducts review of the effectiveness of the system of
internal controls. The tasks include:

(i) access and review selected aspects of the Group’s activities and
internal controls;

(i) conduct regular comprehensive reviews of the practices, procedures
and internal controls of selected business and supporting units and
subsidiaries;

(iii) examine and investigate business ethics, conflicts of interest and

other company policy violations; and

(iv) report results of review to the senior management and make
recommendation where appropriate.

The Directors, through the Audit Committee and the engagement of an
independent internal audit consultancy firm, have conducted an annual review
of the effectiveness of the system of internal control of the Company and
its subsidiaries. The review covers all material controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management functions.

External Auditor

During the year, PricewaterhouseCoopers, the external auditor of the
Company received approximately RMB1.65 million for audit services provided
to the Group. The external auditor did not provide any non-audit service to
the Group during the year under review.
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Communication with Shareholders and Investor
Relations

Details of the rights of shareholders and the procedures for conducting
a poll on resolutions at shareholders’ meetings will be explained during
the proceedings of meetings. The chairman of a meeting will answer any
questions from shareholders regarding voting by way of a poll.

The Company continues to enhance communications and relationships
with its investors. The annual general meeting enables the Company’s
shareholders to exchange views with the Board. The chairman of the
Board and the chairman of Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee
have attended at the annual general meeting to be available to answer the
questions of the shareholders of the Company. Regular meetings are also
held with media, institutional investors and research analysts to provide them
the Group’s latest business development and non-price sensitive information.

To promote effective communication, extensive information about the
Company business is provided in its interim and annual reports, which
are sent to shareholders, analysts and interested parties. The Company
also maintains a corporate website on which comprehensive information,
updates on the Company’s business developments and operations, financial
information, corporate governance practices and other information of the
Group are provided.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

ESNSHNEEAEEBE

Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. YANG Yirong (Chairman and President)

Mr. Yang, aged 49, is the founder of the Group. He is responsible for strategic
planning and formulation of overall corporate development policy for the
Group. Mr. Yang holds a Bachelor’s degree in science, majoring in chemistry
from Huagiao University in 1982. Prior to founding the Group in 1994, Mr.
Yang has extensive experience in the fine chemical manufacturing and trading
and has more than ten years of experience in natural organic chemistry
research.

Mr. GONG Xionghui (Senior Vice President — Engineering Project
Management)

Mr. Gong, aged 47, is responsible for project construction and strategic
investment development. Mr. Gong holds a Master‘s degree in chemical
engineering from Xiamen University and has accumulated over 20 years of
experience in fine chemicals industry and qualified as an ISO 9000 auditor in
the PRC in 1998. He joined the Group in September 1999.

Ms. LU Jiahua (Senior Vice President — Group Financial Control)

Ms. Lu, aged 44, oversees the finance and accounting and human resources
functions for the Group in the PRC. She has over 20 years of experience in
accounting, financial management, administration management and internal
auditing in a number of pharmaceutical and fine chemical manufacturing
enterprises. Ms. Lu holds a Bachelor’s degree and a Master’s degree in
economics and corporate management from Xiamen University. She joined
the Group in April 2002.

Mr. LIN Like (Senior Vice President — Group Operation and Technology)

Mr. Lin, aged 48, is responsible for the management of the Group’s operation
in aroma and natural products and research and development functions for
the Group. Mr. Lin oversees the research and development department and
other operational departments including the production department and
quality management department of the Group. Mr. Lin graduated from the
Chemistry Department of Huagiao University with a Bachelor’s degree in
science and graduated from the Guangzhou Institute of Chemistry, Academic
Sinica with a Master’s degree in science. Mr. Lin has been engaged in the
research and development of fine chemicals for many years with extensive
experience in the natural products industry in China. He joined the Group in
August 2004.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

ESNSREBAEBE

Directors (continued)

Executive Directors (continued)

Mr. HAN Huan Guang (Chairman of Remuneration Committee) (Senior Vice
President — Group Strategic Investments and Capital Markets)

Mr. Han, aged 49, responsible for Group strategic investments, capital
markets and investor relations. He graduated from Zhongshan University (-9
11K %) with a Bachelor's degree in biochemistry in 1982 and obtained his
Master’s degree in Business Administration from University of Technology,
Sydney, Australia in 1993. He has over 20 years’ experience in corporate
finance, merger and acquisition, infrastructure and new technology
developments, management of listed and non-listed companies in the
PRC and overseas. Over the years, he has been a Director, and then
Managing Director in China Everbright Medicine Co. Ltd. (a subsidiary of
China Everbright Holdings Group), Livzon Pharmaceutical Group Inc. and in
other senior management positions in Hong Kong, Singapore and Mainland
companies. He has been appointed as a Councilor of the China Society of
Biotechnology, and also member of some professional associations in the
region. Mr. Han joined the Group in September 2005 as a non-executive
director, and became an executive director from May 2006.

Non-executive Directors

Mr. FENG Tao (Vice Chairman)

Mr. Feng, aged 43, is the Chief Executive Officer of NewMargin Ventures
Capital Co. Ltd., which is a leading venture capital management company
in China. Commencing from 1999, Mr. Feng has been serving as the vice
president officer (2= 1E) of The Foundation of Science & Technology for
Development of the State Planning Committee, State Economic & Trade
Commission of the PRC (2 A R EMBEIE R EE 5Z <€) and Chinese
Academy of Sciences. As one of pClienters of venture-capital of China, Mr.
Feng possesses extensive experience and knowledge of both domestic and
overseas markets. Mr. Feng was awarded the title of “Top 10 most influential
venture capitalists in China” in the “Asia-Pacific Venture Capitalist Summit and
Most Influential Venture Capitalists in China Award Ceremony” in April 2005.
He obtained a Master's degree in science from the Department of Statistics
and Applied Probability of University of Alberta in June 1992. He joined the
Group in September 2005.
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Directors (continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. YAU Fook Chuen (Chairman of Audit Committee, Member of
Remuneration Committee)

Mr. Yau, aged 53, is a practising accountant and has over 19 years of
experience in public accountancy practice which covers company secretarial
service, accountancy, auditing and taxation. He is a member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Yau is currently the proprietor of Yau &
Wong, Certified Public Accountants in Hong Kong. He was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director in February 2004.

Mr. WONG Yik Chung, John (Member of Audit Committee, Member of
Remuneration Committeg)

Mr. Wong, aged 44, among being the Independent Non-executive Director of
the Company, was also served as an Independent Non-executive Director of
Golden Resources Development International Limited, CDW Holdings Limited
and General Steel Holdings Inc, companies listed in Hong Kong, Singapore
and the United States respectively. He is a professional accountant by training
with more than 17 years of experience in auditing and corporate finance work,
with extensive exposure to the business enterprise in the PRC. Mr. Wong is
currently the director to TMF China, a firm provides a variety of professional
outsourcing solutions to an international client base investing in PRC. Mr.
Wong graduated from the University of Melbourne. He is a fellow member
of the Australian Society of Certified Public Accountants and the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He also obtained a PRC Certificate
of Independent Directorship in 2002. He was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director in February 2004.

Dr. ZHENG Lansun (Member of Audit Committee, Member of Remuneration
Committee)

Dr. Zheng, aged 56, is a member of the National Committee of the 10th
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference (B A RBUA € &
E+EEHEZ B =), representing the technology sector. He is also a qualified
academician (Bt ) of the Chinese Academy of Sciences (1 B &} £px). Dr.
Zheng received a Doctoral degree in philosophy from Rice University in the
United States of America and has engaged in chemistry related research
activities at Xiamen University. He was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director in February 2004.

L EC )
BYFHITES
ER2EE(BEEREER  HMEREHR)

ISk 5358 ' UESEE - HEBI9FARAR
AWERY - G5 - BARBBZAESEEL
B EAERRBEFHARETNASRELES
FHIAEEE  ARNGEEEAEGHMEES
FHEVERS AT - RN —ETWF - ARZERBYL
FATES -

Ty

BRAEE(FEZEEKE  FWEREKE)

A

AL AR BAARRRNBIYIERNITES
Sh o R ERSFEARAEBRBERAA - CDW
Holdings & @AM EIERBER AT ES IR AE
B I RER LM ARBYERTEEZ
B - WASERGR - MAB1TFERTRDE
ERELR  HPEEELCEABERER -
RARTMF ChinaZ BE + 72 Al [AIIRE R BN A
BREPREZARREEZIINIBATR - &
EERBRARBEE  BRNSHMASRE
BEHMASEREE - RN T =_FHFE
FEBUVERFES FHLER_TSTNF_AR
ZERBULIENITESE -

BUEAHEL(FEZRENR  FHWZREHR)

Big+ - 5657 C PREARBGAHESHEE TES
HEZEeRFEAELE - BELRATHRERS
BB+ - #EEERice University /83515 £{E 42
fiI » EBEEFMASHBERFTIE - HigL
REZZNF - AREZ T AR IFNTES -

ANNUAL REPORT 2010 - —Z—ZFF# @



Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

ESNSREBAEBE

Senior Management

Mr. XIE Rong Guo. (Vice President — Strategic Resources Management)

Mr. Xie, aged 48, Head of Strategic Resources Management Center. Since
he joined Ecogreen, Mr. Xie has been the management positions in purchase
department, logistic department and commercial department and the general
manager of strategic resources management. He has excellent professional
knowledge and rich experience in supply chain management and strategic
resources management.

Mr. LIN Zhigang (Vice President — Food Additives Business)

Mr. Lin, aged 40, Head of Food Additives Business. He holds a Bachelor’s
degree of economics obtained from Xiamen University. Prior to joining the
Group in June 1996, he worked in a foreign investment enterprise and
has concrete experience in sales and marketing management, business
development and production management.

Mr. Y1 Zhi Xiong (Vice President — Corporate Administration)

Mr. Yi, aged 49, Head of Corporate Administration. Mr. Yi majored in fine
chemicals in Tianjin University with a Bachelor’s degree of engineering. He
has been the head of management in a large manufacturing company before
he joined Ecogreen in September 1998.

Mr. WONG Cang Yan (Head of President Office)

Mr. Wong, aged 53, Head of President Office. Mr. Wong received Bachelor’s
degree of management science from National Chiao Tung University. Before
joining Ecogreen in July 2007, Mr. Wong has 27 years work experience in
enterprise management. During 2003 to 2005, he was the management
consultant of Ecogreen, helping the Group to build the daily management
system.

Mr. YAN Da Yi David (General Manager — Marketing and Sales of Aroma
Chemicals)

Mr. Yan, aged 50, General Manager of the Marketing and Sales of Aroma
Chemicals, Mr. Yan holds a Bachelor’s degree of Engineering. Mr. Yan has
26 years work experience in Canada, Hong Kong and China. Before joining
the Group in May 2004, he worked for eight years in a well-known software
company in Hong Kong, for positions in marketing, sales, servicing and
administrative departments.
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Senior Management (continued)

Mr. XIAO Li Yuan (Aroma Chemicals Operations Manager)

Mr. Xiao, aged 47, Director of Aroma Chemicals Operations. Before joining
the Group in February 2001, he was the deputy manager in a large chemical
enterprise. Mr. Xiao has more than 27 years experience of production
management.

Mr. TU Hong Bin (Aroma Chemicals R&D Manager)

Mr. Tu, aged 43, Aroma Chemicals R&D Manager, who received a Ph.D
degree in 1995 from Beijing Institute of Technology. After the postdoctoral
research experience with Professor Alan.R.Katritzky at University of Florida
of USA (2001-2004), he joined Ecogreen in May 2005. He has more than
14 years experience in organic synthesis and methodology including 3 years
preparation and production of Heterocyclic compounds.

Mr. LAM Kwok Kin (Financial Controller and Company Secretary)

Mr. Lam, aged 37, is the financial controller and company secretary of the
Company. He holds a Bachelor’s degree in accountancy and is a fellow
member of both the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Prior to joining the Group
in October 2003, he worked with an international accounting firm for seven
years and was the financial controller and company secretary of a company
listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Lam has extensive experience in auditing,
accounting, budgeting and company secretarial works.
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Directors’ Report
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The directors (“the Directors”) of EcoGreen Fine Chemicals Group Limited
(“the Company”) are pleased to present their annual report together with the
audited financial statements of the Company and of its subsidiaries (collectively
“the Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2010.

Principal activities and geographical analysis of
operations

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of
the Group are the research and development, production and sale of fine
chemicals products from natural resources for use in aroma chemicals and
pharmaceutical products, and the trading of fine chemicals products and
natural materials.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by business and
geographical segments is set out in Note 5 to the financial statements.

Subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December 2010 are set
out in Note 9 to the financial statements.

Results and dividends
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2010 are set out in
the consolidated income statement on page 50.

An interim dividend of HKO.88 cents per share, amounting to a total of about
HK$4,094,000 (equivalent of approximately RMB3,583,000), was paid to
shareholders of the Company (“the Shareholders”) on 26 November 2010.

The Directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK3.8 cents per
share to the Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members
on 8 June 2011. Together with the interim dividend, this will bring the total
dividend distribution for the year to HK4.68 cents (2009: HK3.8 cents) per
share, resulting in an aggregate dividend of about HK$22,388,000 (equivalent
of approximately RMB19,017,000) for the year ended 31 December 2010.

Reserves

Details of movements in reserves of the Group during the year are set out
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 52. Details of
movements in other reserves of the Group and of the Company during the
year are set out in Note 17 to the financial statements.
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Property, plant and equipment
Movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year are
set out in Note 7 to the financial statements.

Share capital
Details of movements in share capital of the Company during the year are set
out in Note 16 to the financial statements.

Distributable reserves
Distributable reserves including retained earnings of the Company at 31
December 2010 amounted to RMB308,421,000 (2009: RMB314,213,000).

Purchase, sale or redemption of the Company’s listed
securities

During the year ended 31 December 2010, the Company had not redeemed
and neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased or sold
any of the Company’s listed securities.

Pre-emptive rights

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of
association and there was no restriction against such rights under the laws of
the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on
a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

Financial summary
A summary of the results and of the financial positions of the Group for the
past five financial years is set out on page 122.
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Directors
The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yang Yirong (Chairman & President)
Mr. Gong Xionghui

Ms. Lu Jiahua

Mr. Lin Like

Mr. Han Huan Guang

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Feng Tao

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Yau Fook Chuen

Mr. Wong Yik Chung, John

Dr. Zheng Lansun

In accordance with article 108(A) of the Company’s articles of association,
Mr. Lin Like, Mr. Yau Fook Chuen and Mr. Wong Yik Chung, John, will retire
from office by rotation and, being eligible, offers themselves for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting.

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract which is not determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

The non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors were
appointed for an initial term of not more than one year and will be renewable
automatically for successive term of one year until terminated by not less than
three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other.
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Directors’ interests in contracts
Details of the related party transactions are set out in Note 35 to the financial
statements.

Save for the above, no contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s
business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in
which a Director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at year-end or at any time during the year.

Biographical details of Directors and senior
management

Biographical details of Directors and senior management are set out on
pages 27 to 31.

Directors’ Emoluments

Details of Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to Section 161 of the
Companies Ordinance and Appendix 16 of the Listing Rules are set out in
Note 25(b) to the financial statements.

Arrangements to purchase shares or debentures

At no time during the year was the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, a
party to any arrangements to enable the Directors or chief executives of
the Company or their spouses or children under 18 years of age to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate with the exception of the Company’s
share option scheme, details of which are set out in the following section
under the heading “Share options”.
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Directors’ and chief executives’ interests and/or short
positions in shares, underlying shares and debentures
At 31 December 2010, the interests and short positions of the Directors, chief
executives and their associates in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)), which were recorded in
the register maintained by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO; or
which were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO)
or which were otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed

EERTHRARRES - BRSO R
BEREER,/ KA
R-Z-—TF+-A=+—-B EF THREH
R 2 MRATRADE REARREE (EH R
B RG] ([ E 5 RAE ) EXVE) K
{5 - HERORESFHEE - LBEASAFR
RS R O Eos2 I B 2 B ¢ SRR
B RAE GO EXVEET RS BEARAAF
BB (AR RIEE 5 R R EAIA R - 1
SR PR ERAE 2 R RAAR) MR B LT
Al LM ARESRTEARINBETACHE
AT RBRF 2 HERS A BRI

Companies contained in the Listing Rules, were as follows:

(a) Long positions in ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the (a) RAEATESREEIOBTEERZETR

Company

Number of shares held

iEsTE
% of the
issued
share capital
of the
Company
Personal Family Corporate Other PN
Name of Director interests interests interests interests Total BEITR
BEEpE AR RikED DEEE HifEs st FEDH
Mr. Yang Yirong - - 195,389,158 - 195,389,158 42.00%
HREEE (Note a)
(Kt a)
Mr. Gong Xionghui - - 11,368,421 - 11,368,421 2.44%
BEEE S (Note b)
(Hfzt b)
Ms. Lu Jiahua - - 8,526,316 - 8,526,316 1.83%
ERELL (Note c)
(Kt c)
Notes: B
@ These shares were beneficially owned by Marietta Limited, a private (@) ZERDUGBRBTEESR T EREZT
company beneficially wholly-owned by Mr. Yang Yirong. A A B]Marietta Limited B 254 ©
(b) These shares were beneficially owned by Dragon Kingdom Investment (b) ZERMDUNEEBEEESRZEERAZ
Limited, a private company beneficially wholly-owned by Mr. Gong # A 2 8] Dragon Kingdom Investment
Xionghui. Limited B 25 A ©
(©) These shares were beneficially owned by Sunwill Investments Limited, a (© ZERMDUNERELTEZ2EHE 2T

AR ASunwill Investments Limited & 251

Ao

private company beneficially wholly-owned by Ms. Lu Jiahua.
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Directors’ and chief executives’ interests or short
positions in shares, underlying shares and debentures
(continued)

(b)

(c)

Interest in share options of the Company

Share options, being unlisted physically settled equity derivatives,
to subscribe for the ordinary shares of the Company were granted
to Directors, chief executives, employees and certain participants
pursuant to the approved Company’s share option scheme.
Information in relation to these share options during the year ended
31 December 2010 are set out in the following section under the
heading “Share options”.

Interest in registered share capital of a Company’s subsidiary
Other than the interest disclosed above, a Director also hold nominee
shares in certain subsidiaries held in trust for the Group solely for the
purpose of ensuring that the relevant subsidiary has more than one
member.

Other than as disclosed above, neither the Directors nor any chief
executives, nor any of their associates, had any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares, or debentures of the
Company or its associated corporation as at 31 December 2010.

Share options
The following is a summary of the Company’s share option scheme (“the

Scheme”), which was approved and adopted pursuant to a written resolution
of the shareholders of the Company passed on 16 February 2004, disclosed
in accordance with the Listing Rules:

Purpose of the Scheme

The Scheme is to enable the Group to grant options to selected
participants as incentives or rewards for their contributions to the
Group.

Participants of the Scheme

All directors, employees, suppliers of goods or services, customers,
persons or entities that provide research, development or other
technological support to the Group, shareholders and advisers or
consultants of the Group are eligible to participate in the Scheme.
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Share options (continued)

3.

Total number of shares available for issue under the Scheme
The total number of shares of the Company (“the Shares”) which
may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the Scheme and any other share option scheme adopted by
the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in
issue on 21 July 2004, the date of approval of the refreshment of the
General Scheme Limit (as defined below) by the shareholders of the
Company (“the Shareholders”).

The Company may renew the 10% limit with Shareholders’ approval
provided that each such renewal may not exceed 10% of the Shares
in issue as at the date of the Shareholder’s approval (“the General
Scheme Limit”).

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme adopted
by the Company must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the Shares in
issue from time to time.

As at 12 April 2011, being the latest practicable date prior to the issue
of the annual report, options to subscribe for a total of 14,550,000
Shares were still outstanding under the Scheme which represents
approximately 3.0% of the Shares in issue.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

Unless approved by shareholders of the Company, the total number
of shares issued and to be issued upon the exercise of the options
granted to each participant (including both exercised and outstanding
options) under the Scheme or any other share option scheme
adopted by the Company in any 12-month period must not exceed 1%
of the issued share capital.

The period within which the shares must be taken up under an
option

An option must be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Scheme at any time during a period to be determined and notified
by the Directors to each grantee, which period may commence from
the date of the offer for the grant of option is made, but shall end in
any event not later than 10 years from the date on which the offer
for the grant of the option is made, subject to the provisions for early
termination thereof.

BREE)

3.

REFH BT RTZROBEH

RIBET 8 RA R RN 2 (T E b B A
FHEI 2 BB B T R 1 A T e 3 Ko 3%
T2 ARBBM (B ) 8% - EHAE
BENR-ZEEFLA -+ —HBHARRAR
R(TACR ) HEE B 3 —ARETEIR AR (R LA
THE)ERD BTN Z210% °

FERBRIRILER - NRRFAIE#E10%
ZIRE - ME—REH - HISEBER
HofEaz A 22T 2 10% ([ — A& EIR
7l e

RIBERAERT B R AR RN 2 AE R H At
BRAE BT R ERARTTR 2 BIREE
TEMATETIROBE  ARET
BB NS E BTN 230% °

R-ZZ——FMA+_—H  BEITAER
ZEAITAE - IRBFTEIDARITENE
P& #eE m] SREB AR (D& +£14,550,0008% @ (HE
BEITIRDHI3.0% ©

EsHREzEEEH
BRIEEAR N RIRERI A - BRIMER+—
EAHMA » SRR BIsk A A RIRA 2
M EMERETSIMETFTER2HEZ
BRE(BEDITERERITES) EITE
M7 G TEIT 2 RDBE - TEBE
BETRAZ21% °

BB RERBR G 2R

BEEANETETL NG ZARAZH]
RIBE B ARIRAT BRI TEE - MERIRIEE Sl
BRERFRILSN - ZHE A B 2R LB
S B - EERNANSENER
KRB BEHR10F 2R ER -

ECOGREEN FINE CHEMICALS GROUP LIMITED - F 1854t TR EBR A A



Directors’ Report

EEEHRE

Share options (continued)

6.

The minimum period for which an option must be held before it
can be exercised

Unless otherwise determined by the Directors and stated in the offer
for the grant of options to a grantee, there is no minimum period
required under the Scheme for the holding of an option before it can
be exercised.

The period within which payments or calls must or may be
made or loans for such purposes must be repaid and the
amount payable on application or acceptance of the option

An option may be accepted by a participant within 21 days from the
date of the offer for the grant of the option and the amount payable
on acceptance of the grant of an option is HK$1.

The basis of determining the exercise price
The exercise price is determined by the Directors and being not less
than the highest of:

a. the closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the
daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange for trade in one
or more board lots of the Company’s shares on the date of
the offer for the grant;

b. the average closing price of the Company’s shares as stated
in the daily quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of the offer
for the grant; and

Y the nominal value of the Company’s shares.

The remaining life of the Scheme

The Scheme will end on 15 February 2014, after which no option
can be granted under the Scheme. However, options that remain
outstanding as at 15 February 2014 can be exercised until their
respective expiry dates.
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Directors’ Report

EEEHRE

Share options (continued) BREe)

The following table discloses details of share options outstanding as at 31 TRFAR—_ZE—ZF+=-F=+—BREZ

December 2010 under the Scheme and the movements during the year. MARTTE Z BRI RERNFEANZ EE) -
Balance Balance
asat asat
1 January 31 December
2010 Granted Exercised Cancelled 2010
Granted  Exercise Exercisable R-E-EF during during during R-E-B%
date price period -A-H the year the year theyear TZA=t1-H
Type of Grantee ERARH RILRH i3 i i) FREL ERfTE ERiH i)
HKS (000) (000) (000) (/000) ('000)

Category1-Directors ~ EBl-&%

M. Yang Yirong BREEE 25.5.2006 139 255.2006-245.2011 400 = = - 400
Mr. Gong Xionghui EERE 8.6.2004 137 8,6.2004-7.6.2014 3,100 - - - 3,100
Ms. Lu Jiahua ExEnt 86,2004 137 8,6.2004-7.6.2014 2,600 = - - 2600
Mr. Lin Like WhREE 255.2008 139 25.5.2006-245.2011 2,400 = - - 2400
Mr. Han Huan Guang BRYEL 25.5.2006 139 255.2006-245.2011 2400 = = - 2400
Mr. Fung Tao BELE 25.5.2006 139 255.2006-245.2011 2400 = = - 2400
Mr. Yau Fook Chuen TRk 8,6.2004 137 8,6.2004-76.2014 200 = = - 200
2552006 139 255.2006-245.2011 400 - - - 400
Mr. Wong Yk Chung, John ~ B4 86,2004 137 8.6.2004-7.6.2014 200 = - - 200
2552006 139 25.5.2006-245.2011 400 = - - 400
Dr. Zheng Lansun gRsEt 8.6.2004 137 8,6.2004-76.2014 400 = = - 400
255.2006 139 255.2006-245.2011 400 = = - 400
Sub-total 1Nt 15,300 = = - 15,300
Category 2-Employees  $Rl2— 158 8.6.2004 137 8,6.2004-76.2014 8270 = = - 8270
under continuous EESH
employment contract e 26.5.2006 1.39 26.5.2006 - 24.5.2011 4,000 - - - 4,000
Sub-total gt 12210 - - - 12210
Category 3 - Other Bt 2552006 139 255.2006-245.2011 3,200 - - - 3,200
participants S8 L
Sub-total st 3,200 - - - 3,200
Tota ot 30,770 - - - 30,770
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Directors’ Report

EEEHRE

Interest and/or short positions of shareholders
discloseable under SFO

As at 31 December 2010, the interests and short positions of the persons,
other than the Directors and chief executives of the Company, in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company, which were notified to the Company
pursuant to Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO; or which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of
the SFO, were as follows:

Long positions in ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company

REFZRPERFHATHREZRR
EERHKE
RE-E-—FTF+-_HA=+—H BREFRLRAF
TR AINZ AR AR R & AR R A ()
T BAEREES RERPIEXVERE2 R3S H
BEHBARNE  HARARIEES KAEGHHFE
336G EFE Z B el Frac 8k 1 MoK B 1l
™

RAATSREEI0ETETERZIFR

Number of shares held

FrERE
Interest of % of the
corporation issued
controlled by share capital
the substantial of the
shareholder Company
Beneficial Investment NE Other ERAT
Name owner Manager FriREIg R interests Total BT
Egd BREEA RELE HHELR Hitfgs @t [ ENER
Marietta Limited 195,389,158 - - 195,389,158 42.00%
(Note a)
(Bt a)
Keywise Capital - 71,342,000 - 71,342,000 15.33%
Management (HK) Limited
Keywise Greater China 53,022,000 - - 53,022,000 11.40%
Opportunities Master Fund
FMR LLC - 42,000,000 - 42,000,000 9.03%
Platinum Investment Management
Limited - 28,234,000 - 28,234,000 6.07%
UBS AG - - 28,082,000 28,082,000 6.04%
(Note b)
(Hizt b)
Notes: FfsE -
@ These shares were registered in the name of and beneficially owned by Marietta  (a) Z Z 15 LAMarietta Limited 2 & Z  WHZA
Limited, the entire issued share capital of which was directly and beneficially owned AIE&mHEA « MMarietta Limited 2 3 2 21 TAX AR
by Mr. Yang Yirong. AR EEEE SRS o
(b) Trustee. ) FELA o
Other than as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified by any & EXHEEEI - KA G W EENS - R _F—

persons, other than the Directors and chief executives of the Company,
who had interest or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company as at 31 December 2010.

TEFT_A=1t—8  BREZERARRITHAR
AGN - BEMALTRARE 2 DS ER 7+
HRERIORA -
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Directors’ Report

EEEHRE

Management contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Group were entered into or existed
during the year.

Major customers and suppliers

The aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s largest and the five largest
customers were 22% and 51% respectively. The aggregate purchases
attributable to the Group’s largest and the five largest suppliers were 9% and
35% respectively.

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder of the Company,
which to the knowledge of the Directors, owned more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital, had any interest in the share capital of the
Group’s five largest customers and five largest suppliers noted above.

Continuing connected transactions and directors’
interests in contracts

A summary of the related parties transactions entered into by the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2010 is contained in Note 35 to the
financial statements. The transactions in relation to the Group’s purchase
of raw materials from Chuxiong Hongbang Forestry Co., Ltd. (“Chuxiong
Hongbang”) and its associates, as described in the following paragraphs, fall
under the definition of continuing connected transactions under the Listing
Rules for which relevant announcements, if necessary, had been made by the
Company in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Chuxiong Zhongyi Forestry Trading Co. Ltd. (“Chuxiong Zhongyi”) is a non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company which is principally engaged in the
sale of forestry products. 70% of the equity interest in Chuxiong Zhongyi
is beneficially owned by the Company while the remaining 30% equity
interest is beneficially owned by Chuxiong Hongbang, a private company
incorporated in the Peoples’ Republic of China with limited liability and owned
by third parties independent of the Company and connected persons of the
Company.

Pursuant to the Listing Rules, Chuxiong Hongbang and its associates
(as defined in the Listing Rules) are connected persons of the Company.
Therefore, any transaction between the Group and Chuxiong Hongbang
and its associates will constitute a connected transaction of the Company
for the purposes of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, and may be subject
to the reporting, announcement and/or independent shareholders’ approval
requirements contained in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

EEAH
R - ARRLMIT IR B EASRAEER
BAEMEARH EBZ ERRTBAL «

IREFRHER
AEEZBAESRAEATF R HRQED B
522% B51% © REE 2 HA YRR A AL
P RE AR IBAER RI R O% R35% °

B REZBBEALIRBESAAEFALA
EEITIRAE%IA L2 RARHEMAR - #IE#ES
LA RE AT kA AR BRA R 42

o

Bl

FEREXZRESZANER

HE-_Z—TF+_A=1T—HILEFE  ~5E
AT X MEHN A G B RRM T
35 o MEATEGERTAL - 7 B8 AN 5 1B [ 32 1 50 AR
EBRAB([RHLA]) REBBAZEERY
25 BRLEMRAERNHERERS
MARB DR ETRAE4AEN T EREIE
LA AR (T E) ©

B aMEREZERQR([REHIRD RER
AZIFEEMBAR  HEEXBRIFEMEE
oo BERIBRHT0% R AERBARRFEE
EmER - MHER30% M A #E 21 Al fr 22 1 54 FB 7
B o BRHELARH—HRPEARKMBEKL M
ABRRR - WHE=FHEF  BARBERAER
Az B NI R -

pu}

it

\r

RIBEETHRA - BEAF R E BT A (R LR
FUE) R ARNRAINEEA » Bt - AEE 8
LA REBBEAZHNR SR EAR ETHHRIE
VAABFIIEARRBINEER S - WRET ETR
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HAERRTE -
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Directors’ Report

EEEHRE

Continuing connected transactions and directors’
interests in contracts (continued)

The following table is a summary of the transaction amounts of the continuing
connected transactions of the Group with Chuxiong Hongbang for the years
ended 31 December 2010.

Connected Party
BEAL

Category
Wl

FERERIREE2ENERE W)

TRARBE T TFT_HA=1T—HILFERN
BAAKEEEHELAREMEIFINRZHE
ME -

Transaction
amounts

REHRE

2010
—E-ZF
RMB$’000
AREET T

Purchase of raw materials

BERME

Chuxiong Hongbang
and its associates

BIELBREBEA

The aforesaid continuing connected transactions have been reviewed by the
independent non-executive Directors of the Company.

The independent non-executive Directors confirmed that the aforesaid
continuing connected transactions were entered into (a) in the ordinary and
usual course of business of the Group; (b) either on normal commercial
terms or on terms no less favourable to the Group than terms available from
independent third parties; and (c) in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits
or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The auditor has issued his unqualified letter containing
his findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions above in accordance with paragraph 14A.38 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Save as disclosed above:

(i) no contracts of significance subsisted to which the Company or any
of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of the Company
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly at the end of the
years ended 31 December 2010 or at any time during the years; and

there were no transactions which need to be disclosed as connected
transactions in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

9,334
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Directors’ Report

EEEHRE

Corporate governance

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with most of the
Code on Corporate Governance Practices (“the CG Code”) contained in
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31 December
2010, save for the deviations from code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.
Information on the deviations and further information on the Company’s
corporate governance practices is set out in the “Corporate Governance
Report” as set out on pages 17 to 26.

Sufficiency of public float

Based on the information that is publicly available to and within the knowledge
of the Directors, it is confirmed that there is sufficient public float of more than
25% of the Company'’s issued shares at the date of the annual report.

Auditor

The accompanying financial statements have been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers who retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment.

On behalf of the Directors
YANG YIRONG
Chairman & President

Hong Kong, 25 March 2011
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B AZBEN RS

PRICEWATERHOUSE(COPERS

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
ECOGREEN FINE CHEMICALS GROUP LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Ecogreen Fine
Chemicals Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the
“Group”) set out on pages 47 to 121, which comprise the consolidated and
company balance sheets as at 31 December 2010, and the consolidated
income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated
financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
22nd Floor, Prince’s Building
Central, Hong Kong

P REALCLIEEARARARRE
(REEHELMA L BRAA])
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B2 BET RS

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 December
2010 and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been
properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 25 March 2011
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

REEERER

As at 31 December 2010 R=ZE—ZF+=-A=+—H

2010 2009
—E-EF —ETNF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
MoaE ARET T ARBT T
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets EREEE
Land use rights 1 {55 AR A 6 9,541 9,851
Property, plant and equipment ME - WS NGRS 7 397,316 384,191
Intangible assets B EE 8 52,687 57,173
Investment in an associate BN RIRE 10 1,750 1,750
Available-for-sale financial assets AHHESREE 11 200 400
461,494 453,365
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 12 115,489 72,176
Trade receivables FEWZZ SR TN 13 290,313 203,227
Prepayments and other receivables AR FRIE R
b fE IR 14 99,598 45,488
Pledged bank deposits BEERZRITFER 15 57,961 27,122
Cash and cash equivalents HERIREZEY 15 524,409 514,744
... ... t\osrrro | 862,757
Total assets wEE 1,549,264 1,316,122
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Equity attributable to owners BARERSEEE
of the parent FE(ERER
Share capital A&z 16 49,232 49,232
Share premium AR (B 16 181,841 181,841
Other reserves E A 17 65,515 58,852
Retained earnings REBF
— Proposed final dividend — ¥R AREAR S 31 15,434 12,274
— Others —HAth 645,488 538,284
957,510 840,483
Non-controlling interests FEFE IR 3,468 3,502
Total equity R 960,978 843,985
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

REEERER

As at 31 December 2010 R=Z—ZF+=-A=+—H

2010 2009
—E-EF —ETNEF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Mt AR®T T AREET T
LIABILITIES =N
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Borrowings (=% 18 184,820 100,119
Derivative financial instruments TSI A 21 - 917
Deferred tax liabilities BEHEAE 22 10,500 10,500
195,320 111,536
Current liabilities RBAR
Trade payables and bills payable BN SR L ENEE 19 157,107 72,824
Current income tax liabilities BIHAFR S & & 5,766 3,886
Borrowings [=a= 18 205,661 252,666
Derivative financial instruments TSR A 21 668 1,833
Accruals and other payables EErER K
e TRUE 20 22,802 28,396
Amount due to a director B —EE50E 35 962 996
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 392966 |~ 360,601
Total liabilites = #@#&& = 588,286 | 472,137
Total equity and liabilities HEZNEE 1,549,264 1,316,122
Net current assets RBEEFE 694,804 502,156
Total assets less current liabilities BEERABAR 1,156,298 955,521
YANG YIRONG LU JIAHUA
R E EXRE
Chairman Executive director
*E HITEE

The notes on pages 54 to 121 are an integral part of these consolidated 54121 B zE B SE M BEHREREP IS
financial statements.
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Balance Sheet

EERER

As at 31 December 2010 R=ZE—ZF+=-A=+—H

(As restated) (As restated)
(&31) (%))
31 December 31 December 1 January
2010 2009 2009
ZE-ZBF —TThE ZTThEF
+=B=+-H8 | +t=A=+—H —H—H
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Bz ARETT ARETT ARETT
(Note 9)
(FFsE9)
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investments in and amounts RHBRAZIEE R
due from subsidiaries FELGE B A RIZRIA 9 350,694 346,149 346,008
Current assets RBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries N IENGTE ] 9 153,609 168,998 255,235
Prepayments TR RIE 14 40 56 82
__Cashandcashequvalents RELSEREEA LT S 1087 21626 1778
154,686 190,680 257,095
Total assets BEE 505,380 536,829 603,103
EQUITY B
Equity attributable to owners BATEREEE
of the parent PEfLRES
Share capital e 16 49,232 49,232 49,232
Share premium AR (B 16 181,841 181,841 181,841
Other reserves Hihfts 17 99,158 96,408 93,959
Retained earnings REZH
— Proposed final dividend —ERA RS 31 15,434 12,274 11,888
- Others —HA 11,988 23,690 34,759
Total equity BRERE 357,653 363,445 371,679
LIABILITIES i=FE
Non-current liabilities FnBasE
Borrowings BE 18 144,620 56,469 169,907
Derivative financial instruments TEemT A 21 - 917 5,014
144,620 57,386 174,921
Current liabilities RBAE
Borrowings R 18 - 112,331 53,903
Derivative financial instruments PTES@MI A 21 668 1,833 =
Accruals and other payables FERTE A R E A 3R 20 2,439 1,834 2,600
3,107 115,998 56,503
Total liabilities waE 147,727 173,384 231,424
Total equity and liabilities HMERKERE 505,380 536,829 603,103
Net current assets RBEE 151,579 74,682 200,592
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBER 502,273 420,831 546,600
YANG YIRONG LU JIAHUA
B EXRE
Chairman Executive director
FE HITEF

The notes on pages 54 to 121 are an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Income Statement
mEellamk

— By function of expenses —1ZE R8N 4E

For the year ended 31 December 2010 BZ—T—ZF +-A=1T—HILFE

2010 2009
—E-ZF —EThF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
FasE AR¥T T AREBT T
Revenue Wz 5 908,251 728,494
Cost of goods sold BEEERKA 24 (683,495) (641,383
Gross profit EF 224,756 187,111
Other (losses)/gains — net Hh(E518), W —F5E 23 (424) 258
Selling and marketing costs $HE RS ER AN 24 (23,653) (20,023)
Administrative expenses 1THER 24 (36,596) (30,332)
Operating profit FR SR 164,083 137,014
Finance income BhE YA 26 2,873 2,182
Finance costs BEE R 26 (14,779) (18,218)
Financecosts—net BEAKRK-FE ¢ 26 | (11,98) (16,036)
Profit before income tax R PAS T Al A 152,177 120,978
Income tax expense FiS Bt R < 27 (22,108) (13,296)
Profit for the year REZ A 130,069 107,682
Attributable to: FEAE -
Equity holders of the Company RABIERZEAA 130,103 107,471
Non-controlling interests FEE 1 2 (34) 21
130,069 107,682
Earnings per share for profit REERREERTFAA
attributable to the equity holders FEAE & F 2 FRR A
of the Company during the year (FBRIAARETITR)
(expressed in RMB per share)
- Basic —BK 30 28.0 Centsf{ll 23.1 Centsfll
- Diluted — s 30 27.3 Cents{ll 22.9 Centsfll

The notes on pages 54 to 121 are an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

mEEHEWRER

For the year ended 31 December 2010 B Z—ZT—ZF+-_A=1+—HILFE

2010 2009
—E-2F —EThF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
MoaE ARET T ARBT T
Profit for the year REERF 130,069 107,682
Other comprehensive income: Hit 2wk -
Currency translation differences EHEEE =R 31 ©)
Cash flow hedge BamE L
— Fair value change for the year —ARFEEAFERE 814 130
— Transfer to finance costs — B A BB R AN 1,936 2,134
Other comprehensive income AEEEMEENEERE
_ fortheyear L. 2m® 2,255
Total comprehensive income REEZHNZHEE
for the year 132,850 109,937
Attributable to: 1S -
Equity holders of the Company RNARERPEEA 132,884 109,726
Non-controlling interests FEE ) 1t A (34) 211
Total comprehensive income AEEZHEINEAE
for the year 132,850 109,937

The notes on pages 54 to 121 are an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mERRBHR

For the year ended 31 December 2010 BZ—ZT—ZF+-_A=1+—HItFE

Attributable to equity holders

of the Company
KARERHBAEL

Non-

controlling
Share Share Other  Retained interests Total
capital  premium  reserves  earnings Total  FiEIH equity
BRE  RAHE  HtiEE  REERA by i aER
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETRT ARETrn AR¥Trn AR%Txn
Balance at 1 January 2010 R=Z2-Z5-F-A2&H 49232 181,841 58852 550,558 840,483 3502 843985
Total comprehensive income for 2010 —E—FE2FMREE - - 2,781 130,108 132,884 (34 132,850
Dividend relating to 2009 BE-ZTNEZRE - - - (12,274) (12,274) - (12,274)
Dividend relating to 2010 BBE-_Z-ZEZRE = = = (3,583) (3,583 - (3,583)

Transfer from retained eamings REBFERE(rE17)

(Notes 17) - - 3,882 (3,882) - - -
Balance at 31 December 2010 REB-BE+-A=t-HZEH 49,232 181,841 65,515 660,922 967,510 3,468 960,978
Balance at 1 January 2009 R-BENF-A—-H2z&R 49,232 181,841 56,067 458,551 745,681 3,291 748,927
Total comprehensive income for 2009~ —EZNF2ANREE - - 2,255 107,471 109,726 21 109,937
Employees share option scheme: EEERETS :

- Value of share options granted -REBEREZEE - - 243 - 243 - 243

- Cancellation of share options — e = = (68) 58 - - -
Dividend relating to 2008 BEZZENEZRE - - - (11,889) (11,888) - (11,888)
Dividend relating to 2009 BE-_ZENFZRE - - - (8,279 (3,279) - (8,279)
Transfer from retained eamings REEFEE (Fr17)

(Notes 17) = = 355 (355 = =
Balance at 31 December 2009 R-BENET-A=t-Az&H 49,232 181,841 58,852 550,558 840,483 3,602 843,985

The notes on pages 54 to 121 are an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FEReRER

For the year ended 31 December 2010 HE—T—ZTF+_—_A=+—HIFE

2010 2009
—EB-2F —ETNEF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
b AR¥T T ARET T
Cash flows from operating activities REEKBRERE
Cash generated from operations REEESE® 32 78,210 207,875
Interest received 2HFILE 2,873 2,182
Interest paid ERFLE (16,466) (16,272
Income tax paid B ATEH (20,228) (14,480)
Net cash generated from operating CEEESIR® /35
activities S 44389 179305
Cash flows from investing activities BRETZHRERE
Additions to property, plant and W2 - RE MR
equipment 7 (44,336) (34,631)
Increase in intangible assets A BN 8 (12,610) (7,544)
Addition to land use rights 35 FR AR N 6 - (1,330)
Net cash used in investing activities  RAEPHAReFE | (56,946) (43,509)
Cash flows from financing activities RETEHRERE
Proceeds from government grant B RS Z A 386 =
Proceeds from borrowings BEESHE 353,857 102,215
Repayment of borrowings BgtE (316,161) (94,705)
Decrease in amount due to a director BN —ESZIER D (34) ©)
Dividends paid to the Company’s RANFERFEE A
equity holders TRZIRE 31 (15,857) (15,167)
Net cash generated from/(used in) REEBFS,(FTA)
__financing activities e e s S 3. O (7,666)
Net increase in cash and HeRERBELER
cash equivalents 1 hnFEE 9,634 128,134
Cash and cash equivalents at FzBEe Rk
beginning of the year ZRIIBEEIER 514,744 386,619
Exchange gains/(losses) on cash and HekERAEER Z
cash equivalents fE 5 Mz (E51E) 31 ©)
Cash and cash equivalents at FRZEER
end of the year ZRERELER 15 524,409 514,744
The notes on pages 54 to 121 are an integral part of these consolidated  Z54F 121 BEf:E B S AWM BEREREP IS

financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHmRNE

1. General information

EcoGreen Fine Chemicals Group Limited (“EcoGreen” or “the Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together “the Group”) are principally engaged in the
production and trading of fine chemicals from natural resources for use in
aroma chemicals and pharmaceutical products.

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 3 March 2003 as
an exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law of the
Cayman lIslands. The address of its registered office is Century Yard, Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681 GT, George Town, Grand Cayman,
Cayman Islands, British West Indies.

The Company is listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“the Stock Exchange”).

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Chinese Renminbi
(RMB), unless otherwise stated. These consolidated financial statements have
been approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 25 March 2011.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies have been
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRS”), which
include all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and interpretations issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong, requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and applicable disclosure requirements of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“Main Board Listing Rules”). They have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of available-
for-sale financial assets, financial assets and financial liabilities (including
derivative instruments) at fair value through profit or loss, which are carried at
fair value.

1. —REHR

RIS TEEMARAD(THBIHIAAT])
REMBAR (GBI AEE ) ETBREMNAXA
BREBERAEBALCESS  UAREELES
REEES o

ARaR—_EE=F=A=AREREHSAA
FERESEEFMKIRERRER AR - &
= 1 $% = B2 4k & Century Yard, Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681 GT, George Town,
Grand Cayman, Cayman lIslands, British West
Indies °

ARBNBEBARZAERAR (1B E
WRABETE EME o

BEBEBEN  ZEREUBRRAUAR
BiE  ZERAMBRER-_F——F=A
CTHARKEREHMAERT -

2. EESHBREE
RUAGAMBREREBOEZGHBRBRT
X o BRBEHP - W EBERIEF 2 ROFTAF
ENEBAEM -

21 (REEXE

RATERE MIERREBIB(E B B ihE £
AIN(THKFRSs)) « B8 EEBRANSEHIREY - &
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FH EMRAN(ERETARR D PEAREER
TEMmE > HKFRSsIEE B SR A€ A A H(E
BRI F R A R(BE B ST ERIN([HKASs 1) A
FTEEAMERERARFEERARE - 268
BHRERIZBELKNAARR - WAEHR A
ESHMEE  RATESABICENSRHEE
MEmEE(BETELR) RN ETIREL &
I
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHmRNE

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRS requires
the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements, are disclosed in Note 4.

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(@) New and amended standards adopted by the Group

° HKFRS 3 (revised), “Business combinations”, and consequential
amendments to HKAS 27, “Consolidated and separate financial
statement”, HKAS 28, “Investments in associates”, and HKAS 31,
“Interests in joint ventures”, are effective prospectively to business
combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the
beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after 1
July 2009.

The revised standard continues to apply the acquisition method to
business combinations but with some significant changes compared
with HKFRS 3. For example, all payments to purchase a business
are recorded at fair value at the acquisition date, with contingent
payments classified as debt subsequently re-measured through
the statement of comprehensive income. There is a choice on an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis to measure the non-controlling
interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets. All
acquisition-related costs are expensed. The revised standard
has no impact on the current year as there has been no business
combination during the year.

2. ESHBEHMER)

2.1 RBIELE(Z)

RSB DY EREENRTE 2 A BHREASE
RETEZE:11E  EEENERNERAER
SRR ER HE - P R KF A B
REZEE - SRR ATEESRA T BIRERK
BEE 2 HE N T4IHE -

DB I 1%

) AN E BN IR RASET R 4E R

. HKFRS 3(1&5])[ ¥ & 6 | - LARHKAS
27 B HMEBI R | - HKAS 28 B
BIRE | MHKAS 31 [ A & | IEEE
B ARREREEARKERRA-T
TNFLA— BRI EBARNEEFER
EHIE R 2 B EEE T o

o

LIS R ERIE B XA HERAEE
75 - (BEHKFRS 38 - AETEKRE
B o fla0 - BB EHI T (R N BIRIE
BEAHNAAEBERE  MABEAERFHN
RENREREEGERERENE -
B HEE IR R - PIREBRA
AEENFEHEESEEWEE R F
BEMLAETE - FTEEEERBREN
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHmRNE

2.  Summary of significant accounting policies 2. FESHBEHBEZ)
(continued)

2.1  Basis of preparation (continued) 21 REEE(E)

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (continued) BRI A ZE) (4E)

(a) New and amended standards adopted by the Group (continued) (a) REE DN FTE] RIEETHXER| ()

HKAS 27 (revised) requires the effects of all transactions with non-
controlling interests to be recorded in equity if there is no change in
control and these transactions will no longer result in goodwill or gains
and losses. The standard also specifies the accounting when control
is lost. Any remaining interest in the entity is re-measured to fair value,
and a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

HK Interpretation 5 “Presentation of financial statements —
Classification by the borrower of a term loan that contains a
repayment on demand clause”. The Interpretation requires that the
amounts repayable under a loan agreement which includes a clause
that gives the lender the unconditional right to call the loan at any
time shall be classified by the borrower as current in its balance
sheet, as the borrower under such an agreement does not have an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve
months after the reporting period. Similarly, in the contractual maturity
analysis disclosed by the borrower in accordance with HKFRS 7
“Financial instruments: Disclosures”, amounts repayable under such
loan agreement shall be classified in the earliest time bracket.

The Group has classified certain bank borrowings (all obtained during
the year) where the relevant loan agreements contain repayment on
demand clauses as current liabilities as at 31 December 2010.

(b) New and amended standards, and interpretations mandatory for (o)
the first time for the financial year beginning 1 January 2010 but
not currently relevant to the Group (although they may affect the
accounting for future transactions and events).

HKAS 27 (183] ) 7€ E I8 B
B AEIEREIMESETHER S
FEVATERZTI®R  MEEXSET
BEREERFSMARE o WIEAER|TRT
BAR AR RIER ST RIE A © (EfAfE
FRANFSERIEZA R EEEHTE
WHEEz R P HERFIFHIEL

B MBHREN2I—ERAYE
BEERGFINEMNERNRE] - L2
BRTEHER TERANBEGENZRR
EAT B R 48 B R 2 IR 32 B ki T (B
BZHA  ARERAREEAERAR
BAERSER  RREERARZEF HHE
TUTEEEGHENTEEREHHE
D+ —EAREE - Ak - ERARE
EEMBREEINTERMITA : WE IR
BRIMADFHAEE - REZFER
A ERE AR RFRHRAR S -

AEBEDHBEB L TERARGFENE
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—E-RENEERABRRARRAREA
B o

WRE_E-FF— A - ARGNMEE
BB RFRAE T IESCERERE - B8
RIEAEEER(EALATEREFERR
MR ZHMEBRNEECIR) ©

@ ECOGREEN FINE CHEMICALS GROUP LIMITED - 14 ¥4kt T £ EHR A
-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHmRNE

2.

2.1

Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)
Basis of preparation (continued)

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (continued)

HKAS 17 (amendment), ‘Leases’, deletes specific guidance regarding
classification of leases of land, so as to eliminate inconsistency with
the general guidance on lease classification. As a result, leases of
land should be classified as either finance or operating lease using
the general principles of HKAS 17, i.e. whether the lease transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
asset to the lessee. Prior to the amendment, land interest which title
is not expected to pass to the Group by the end of the lease term
was classified as operating lease under “Leasehold land and land use
rights”, and amortised over the lease term. It is not expected to have
any material impact on the Group’s financial statements as the Group
does not have any leasehold land during the year.

HK(IFRIC) 17, ‘Distribution of non-cash assets to owners’ (effective on
or after 1 July 2009). The interpretation was published in November
2008. This interpretation provides guidance on accounting for
arrangements whereby an entity distributes non-cash assets to
shareholders either as a distribution of reserves or as dividends.
HKFRS 5 has also been amended to require that assets are classified
as held for distribution only when they are available for distribution in
their present condition and the distribution is highly probable.

HK(IFRIC) 18, ‘Transfers of assets from customers’, effective for
transfer of assets received on or after 1 July 2009. This interpretation
clarifies the requirements of HKFRSs for agreements in which an entity
receives from a customer an item of property, plant and equipment
that the entity must then use either to connect the customer to a
network or to provide the customer with ongoing access to a supply
of goods or services (such as a supply of electricity, gas or water).
In some cases, the entity receives cash from a customer that must
be used only to acquire or construct the item of property, plant, and
equipment in order to connect the customer to a network or provide
the customer with ongoing access to a supply of goods or services (or
to do both).

2.

2.1
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHmRNE

2.  Summary of significant accounting policies 2. FESHBEHBEZ)
(continued)
2.1  Basis of preparation (continued) 21 REEEE)
Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (continued) SRR ZE) (&)
. HK(FRIC) 9, ‘Reassessment of embedded derivatives and HKAS 39, e HK(FRIC) Ol B APTE T AR ER | &

Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement’ effective 1 July
2009. This amendment to HK(IFRIC) 9 requires an entity to assess
whether an embedded derivative should be separated from a host
contract when the entity reclassifies a hybrid financial asset out of the
‘fair value through profit or loss’ category. This assessment is to be
made based on circumstances that existed on the later of the date
the entity first became a party to the contract and the date of any
contract amendments that significantly change the cash flows of the
contract. If the entity is unable to make this assessment, the hybrid
instrument must remains classified as at fair value through profit or
loss in its entirety.

° HK(IFRIC) 16, ‘Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation’ .
effective 1 July 2009. This amendment states that, in a hedge of a net
investment in a foreign operation, qualifying hedging instruments may
be held by any entity or entities within the group, including the foreign
operation itself, as long as the designation, documentation and
effectiveness requirements of HKAS 39 that relate to a net investment
hedge are satisfied. In particular, the group should clearly document
its hedging strategy because of the possibility of different designations
at different levels of the group.

HKAS 38 (amendment), ‘Intangible assets’, effective 1 January 2010.
The amendment clarifies guidance in measuring the fair value of an
intangible asset acquired in a business combination and permits
the grouping of intangible assets as a single asset if each asset has
similar useful economic lives.

° HKAS 1 (amendment), ‘Presentation of financial statements’. The o
amendment clarifies that the potential settlement of a liability by the
issue of equity is not relevant to its classification as current or non
current. By amending the definition of current liability, the amendment
permits a liability to be classified as non-current (provided that the
entity has an unconditional right to defer settlement by transfer of
cash or other assets for at least 12 months after the accounting
period) notwithstanding the fact that the entity could be required by
the counterparty to settle in shares at any time.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHmRNE

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (continued)

o HKAS 36 (amendment), ‘Impairment of assets’, effective 1 January
2010. The amendment clarifies that the largest cash-generating
unit (or group of units) to which goodwill should be allocated for the
purposes of impairment testing is an operating segment, as defined
by paragraph 5 of HKFRS 8, ‘Operating segments’ (that is, before the
aggregation of segments with similar economic characteristics).

o HKFRS 2 (amendments), ‘Group cash-settled share-based
payment transactions’, effective form 1 January 2010. In addition to
incorporating HK(IFRIC) 8, ‘Scope of HKFRS 2’, and HK(IFRIC) 11,
‘HKFRS 2 — Group and treasury share transactions’, the amendments
expand on the guidance in HK(IFRIC) 11 to address the classification
of group arrangements that were not covered by that interpretation.

o HKFRS 5 (amendment), ‘Non-current assets held for sale and
discontinued operations’. The amendment clarificaties that HKFRS 5
specifies the disclosures required in respect of non-current assets (or
disposal groups) classified as held for sale or discontinued operations.
It also clarifies that the general requirement of HKAS 1 still apply, in
particular paragraph 15 (to achieve a fair presentation) and paragraph
125 (sources of estimation uncertainty) of HKAS 1.

The adoption of the above new HKFRSs had no material effect on how the
results and financial position for the current or prior accounting periods have
been prepared and presented.

() New standards, amendments and interpretations have been issued
but are not effective for the financial year beginning 1 January 2010
and have not been early adopted

HKAS 12 (Amendment)
HKAS 24 (Revised)
HKAS 32 (Amendments)

Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets!
Related Party Disclosures?
Classification of Rights Issues?

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments?
HK(IFRIC) — INT 14 Prepayment of a Minimum Funding
(Amendment) Requirement?

HK(IFRIC) — INT 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with

Equity Instruments®

effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 February 2010
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010

o » @ N =
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHmRNE

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (continued)

(c) New standards, amendments and interpretations have been issued
but are not effective for the financial year beginning 1 January 2010
and have not been early adopted (continued)

The Group has commenced accessing the potential impact of these new and

revised standards, amendments or interpretations but is not yet in a position

to determine whether they would have a significant impact on its results and
financial position are prepared and presented.

2.2 Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the
Company and all its subsidiaries made up to 31 December.

@) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose entities) over which the
Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies generally
accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights. The
existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable
or convertible are considered when assessing whether the group controls
another entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date
that control ceases.

The Group uses the acquisition method of accounting to account for business
combinations. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary
is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the
equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes
the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.
On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the group recognises any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets.

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment.
Cost is adjusted to reflect changes in consideration arising from contingent
consideration amendments. Cost also includes direct attributable costs of
investment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHmRNE

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
2.2 Consolidation (continued)
(@) Subsidiaries (continued)

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net
assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If this is less than the fair value of the
net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the
difference is recognised directly in the statement of comprehensive income
(note 2.6).

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions
between group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

(b) Transactions with non-controlling interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests as transactions
with equity owners of the group. For purchases from non-controlling interests,
the difference between any consideration paid and the relevant share
acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded
in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also
recorded in equity.

When the Group ceases to have control or significant influence, any retained
interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value, with the change in carrying
amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount
for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an
associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant influence
is retained, only a proportionate share of the amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where
appropriate.

(c) Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but
not control, generally accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and
50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted for using
the equity method of accounting and are initially recognised at cost. The
Group’s investment in associates includes goodwill identified on acquisition,
net of any accumulated impairment loss.

2. ESHBEHMER)

22 #E#E)

@) FFI(#E)

RN EWEE SIS - AR
WEF Tz EEBE RSN AR EE B
BAEERGATEENHRFEEAABENK
B IAEE - REBEMS - BREERR
FIBATRARIFEENAAERE  %E=8EEA
e RPER(HE2.6)

SEARARZENRS - XHHER I ARBIRT
BT ALY - RETIBRITTUAHE - TAAH
SETHRERBEEHNE - URREREER
RBERTA —B

(b)  HIFERE RS
AREBHEEIEFEESETHISRREA
SERSEFEEETORS o KA FEHIEHER
MEE - A EREERBRRETEET
RAVFEERAENEZELHLSER o mIEZEH
MM R B B M) BB T RC SR s

ERETEGARGEAEATESN  EXEN
FARBEREFAEEZAAEE  FRAENE
BHEBDRTER - A BERMKRERENRE
ABRT S VA RRE(E - (ERIE - SEHER
BE o IS - ZATEE AR A W et T RER A
HEBNMAEECEREERBEENARE - &
BIRE 2 AR S ST RERNBEEH D

NG,
i o

B RS B WHREDREERTZED -
RARLL IS 2 AE H 4R & Y et T R R 8RR
EFOBREEREE) -

© B

Bt A AR BB H G E R E ) L 5l
HEE  BEWSE 20%-50%1% ZREMARHE
B 10 B LA R A AR - W12 AR AR TERR o A&
ERBE XN ERERERDHRNEE
WHIBR E A RETREEE -

ANNUAL REPORT 2010 - —Z—ZFF# @



A
-

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHmRNE

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

2.2 Consolidation (continued)

() Associates (continued)

The Group’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition profits or losses is

recognised in the income statement, and its share of post-acquisition

movements in other comprehensive income is recognised in other

comprehensive income. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are

adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment. When the group’s

share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate,

including any other unsecured receivables, the group does not recognise

further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf

of the associate.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are
eliminated to the extent of the group’s interest in the associates. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of associates have
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Dilution gains and losses arising in investments in associates are recognised
in the income statement.

23 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal
reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating
decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the Executive
Directors.

24 Foreign currency translation

(@) Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities
are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Chinese Renminbi (“RMB”), which is the
Company’s functional and the Group’s presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency
using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions
and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income
statement, except when deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges and
qualifying net investment hedges.

2. ZESHBEHME#R)

22 HZEH#E)
© B (E)
$ElfM% LR BEF BB BN FIEER AR

C MEEEBERNEMGE REE BN E
{ ?V?QLISZ EATER - BERRFHNEINRER

EEPRE - AKEEE - RBENBESER
BB E B E ML - BT E bR
EMR - AEBTSREAE—FTEHE  BIFELE
B E R EE AT RBEFEL AR -

AEBEANS WX FHRBERMNGEEEE
S BB HE - BRIER B IRMUIEBRAT
HREAEDRE  BRRBRERITTIAHE -
BRENETHRRCRBREHNRE - AERER
SERANBRTE—H -

EBENICEMELENBERNSIBRNRFER
23 SHER

BEDEMERER F B LERRERENAIDR
LEH—BHAFRRE  c TEESHERTEAETE
WERREERRBIERTE - BEDEERMT
HEEDIPRIKRE -

24 HiEsmE

@) TEER 22| EH

$E@%EEEZEM’H&2’%FWIJIEE AL E R
BEIZRERRCEB([EEE DEE - &

BPBBRATEARE(TARE D23 - AR

ERARRININGEEE MAEENTIRE -

al

i

b)  RBZRAEH
HINERZBRZAZRITEXBLERNEEE -
BT REERRTIREARNR R E R AE
BREEHIN  BENERZFEENELBEAR
ROMNETHEN B EENABNFRERGEE
HRIE S BB A I R TER -

ECOGREEN FINE CHEMICALS GROUP LIMITED - F 1854t TR EBR A A



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHmRNE

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
24 Foreign currency translation (continued)
(b) Transactions and balances (continued)

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings and cash and
cash equivalents are presented in the income statement within ‘finance
income or cost’. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in
the income statement within ‘other gains/(losses) — net.’

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in a foreign
currency classified as available-for-sale are analysed between translation
differences resulting from changes in the amortised cost of the security, and
other changes in the carrying amount of the security. Translation differences
related to changes in the amortised cost are recognised in profit or loss, and
other changes in carrying amount are recognised in equity.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets and liabilities such as
equities held at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss
as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation differences on non-monetary
financial assets such as equities classified as available-for-sale are included in
the available for sale reserve in equity.

(c) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has
the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency
different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation
currency as follows:

(i)  assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that balance sheet;

(i) income and expenses for each income statement are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at
the dates of the transactions); and

@iy all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate
component of equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHmRNE

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
24 Foreign currency translation (continued)
() Group companies (continued)

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the
net investment in foreign operations, and of borrowings and other currency
instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are taken to
shareholders’ equity. When a foreign operation is partly disposed of or sold,
exchange differences that were recorded in equity are recognised in the
income statement as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign
entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at
the closing rate.

25 Property, plant and equipment

@) Construction-in-progress

Construction-in-progress, representing buildings on which construction
work has not been completed and machinery pending installation, is stated
at historical cost, which includes construction expenditures incurred, cost
of machinery, and other direct costs capitalised during the construction
and installation period, less accumulated impairment losses, if any. No
depreciation is provided in respect of construction-in-progress until the
construction and installation work is completed. On completion, the
construction-in-progress is transferred to appropriate categories of property,
plant and equipment.

Other property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Cost
may also include transfers from equity of any gains/losses on qualifying cash
flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of property, plant and equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised
as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance
are expensed in the income statement during the financial period in which
they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHmRNE

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

2.5 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

(b) Other property, plant and equipment

Depreciation on other property, plant and equipment is calculated using

the straight-line method to allocate cost less their residual values over their

estimated useful lives, as follows:

Buildings

Plant and machinery
Leasehold improvements
Office furniture and equipment
Motor vehicles

30 to 40 years
5to 15 years
5to 10 years
5to 10 years
51to 10 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount (Note 2.7).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with
carrying amount and are recognised within ‘other gains/(losses) — net’ in the
income statement.

2.6 Intangible assets

@ Research and development

Research expenditure is recognised as an expense as incurred. Costs
incurred on development projects (relating to the design and testing of new
or improved products) are recognised as intangible assets when the following
criteria are fulfilled:

(i) it is technically feasible to complete the intangible asset so that it will be
available for use or sale;

(i)  management intends to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

(i)~ there is an ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

(iv) it can be demonstrated how the intangible asset will generate probable
future economic benefits;

(vy adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the
development and to use or sell the intangible asset are available; and
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHmRNE

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

2.6 Intangible assets (continued)
(@) Research and development (continued)
(Vi) the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its

development can be reliably measured.

Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are
recognised as an expense as incurred. Development costs previously
recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent
period.

Capitalised development costs are recorded as intangible assets and
amortised from the point at which the asset is ready for use on a straight-line
basis over a period of five years.

Development assets are tested for impairment annually, in accordance with
HKAS 36.

(b) Patents and technical know-how

Expenditure on acquired patents and technical know-how is capitalised and
amortised using the straight-line method over its estimated useful life of 3 to
10 years, from the date when the patents and technical know-how is available
for use.
2.7 Impairment of investments in subsidiaries, associates and non-
financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life or are not yet available for use are
not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss
is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s
fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets
other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

2.8 Financial assets

2.8.1 Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: at fair
value through profit or loss, loans and receivable and available-for-sale. The
classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were
acquired. Management determine the classification of its financial assets at
initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHmRNE

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

2.8 Financial assets (continued)

2.8.1 Classification (continued)

(@) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for

trading. A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired principally for

the purpose of selling in the short term. Derivatives are also categorised as

held for trading unless they are designated as hedges. Assets in this category

are classified as current assets.

(b) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. They are
included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months
after the balance sheet date. These are classified as non-current assets.
The Group’s loans and receivables comprise ‘trade and other receivables’,
‘pledged bank deposits’ and ‘cash and cash equivalents’ in the balance sheet
(Note 2.11 and Note 2.12) .

(c) Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either
designated in this category or not classified in any of the other categories.
They are included in non-current assets unless the investment mature or
management intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months of the
balance sheet date.

2.8.2 Recognition and measurement

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade-
date — the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for
all financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss. Financial
assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at
fair value, and transaction costs are expensed in the income statement.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from
the investments have expired or have been transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Available for-sale
financial assets are subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and receivables
are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the ‘financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss’ category are presented in the income
statement within ‘other losses — net’, in the period in which they arise.
Dividend income from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
is recognised in the income statement as part of other income when the
Group’s right to receive payments is established.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHmRNE

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

2.8 Financial assets (continued)

2.8.2 Recognition and measurement (continued)

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in a foreign

currency and classified as available-for-sale are analysed between translation

differences resulting from changes in amortised cost of the security and other

changes in the carrying amount of the security. The translation differences

on monetary securities are recognised in profit or loss, and the translation

on non-monetary securities carrying amount are recognised in other

comprehensive income. Changes in the fair value of monetary securities

classified as available-for-sale and non-monetary securities classified as

available-for-sale are recognised in other comprehensive income.

When securities classified as available-for-sale are sold or impaired, the
accumulated fair value adjustments recognised in equity are included in the
income statement as 'gains and losses from investment securities’. Interest
on available-for-sale securities calculated using the effective interest method
is recognised in the income statement. Dividends on available-for-sale equity
instruments are recognised in the income statement when the Group’s right
to receive payment is established.

2.9 Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative
contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at their fair value.
The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on whether
the derivative is designed as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of
the item being hedged. The Group designates certain derivatives as hedges
of a particular risk associated with a recognised liability or a highly probable
forecast transaction (cash flow hedge).

The Group documents at the inception of the transaction the relationship
between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk
management objectives and strategy for undertaking various hedge
transactions. The Group also documents its assessment, both at hedge
inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in
hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or
cash flows of hedged items.

The fair values of various derivative instruments used for hedging purposes
are disclosed in Note 21. Movements on the hedging reserve in shareholders’
equity are shown in Note 17. The full fair value of a hedging derivative is
classified as a non-current asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the
hedged item is more than 12 months, and as a current asset or liability when
the remaining maturity of the hedged item is less than 12 months. Trading
derivatives are classified as a current asset or liability.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHmRNE

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

29 Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities
(continued)

(@) Cash flow hedge

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are

designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are recognised in other

comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is

recognised immediately in the income statement within ‘other gains/(losses) —

)

net’.

Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled in the income statement in the
periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss (for example, when the
forecast sale that is hedged takes place). The gain or loss relating to the
effective portion of interest rate swaps hedging variable rate borrowings is
recognised in the income statement within ‘finance costs’. The gain or loss
relating to the ineffective portion is recognised in the income statement within
‘other gains/(losses) — net’. However, when the forecast transaction that
is hedged results in the recognition of a non-financial asset (for example,
inventory or fixed assets), the gains and losses previously deferred in equity
are transferred from equity and included in the initial measurement of the cost
of the asset. The deferred amounts are ultimately recognised in cost of goods
sold in the case of inventory, or in depreciation in the case of fixed assets.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer
meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or loss existing
in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast
transaction is ultimately recognised in the income statement. When a forecast
transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that
was reported in equity is immediately transferred to the income statement
within ‘other gains/(losses) — net’.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHmRNE

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

2.10 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost

is determined using the weighted average method. The cost of finished

goods and work in progress comprises raw materials, direct labour, other

direct costs and related production overheads (based on normal operating

capacity). It excludes borrowing costs. Net realisable value is the estimated

selling price in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling

expenses.

2.11 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for merchandise sold
or services performed in the ordinary course of business. If collection of
trade and other receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the normal
operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current assets.
If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method,
less provision for impairment.

2.12 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with
banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of
three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within
borrowings in current liabilities on the balance sheet.

2.13 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company’s equity share capital
(treasury shares), the consideration paid, including any directly attributable
incremental costs (net of income taxes) is deducted from equity attributable
to the Company’s equity holders until the shares are cancelled or reissued.
Where such shares are subsequently reissued, any consideration received,
net of any directly attributable incremental transaction costs and the related
income tax effects, is included in equity attributable to the Company’s equity
holders.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHmRNE

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

2.14 Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been
acquired in the ordinary course of business from suppliers. Accounts payable
are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less
(or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are
presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

2.15 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs
incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost;
any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the
redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of
the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction
costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility
will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-down
occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or
all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment
for liquidity services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it
relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months
after the balance sheet date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHmRNE

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

2.16 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is

recognised in the income statement, except to the extent that it relates to

items recognised in the comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this

case, the tax is also recognised in equity, respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date in the countries
where the company’s subsidiaries and associates operate and generate
taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax
returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject
to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of
amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on
temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However,
the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that
at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or
loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have
been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date and are
expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or
the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on
investments in subsidiaries, associates, except where the timing of the
reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B HmRNE

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
2.17 Employee benefits
(i) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as
a result of services rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date.
Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised
until the time of the leave.

(ii) Share-based compensation

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation plan.
The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for the grant of
the options is recognised as an expense. The total amount to be expensed
over the vesting period is determined by reference to the fair value of the
options granted, excluding the impact of any non-market vesting conditions
(for example, profitability and sales growth targets). Non-market vesting
conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that are
expected to vest. At each balance sheet date, the entity revises its estimates
of the number of options that are expected to vest. It recognises the impact
of the revision of original estimates, if any, in the income statement, with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.

The cash subscribed for the shares issued when the options are exercised
is credited to share capital (nominal value) and share premium, net of any
directly attributable transaction costs

The grant by the Company of options over its equity instruments to the
employees of subsidiary undertakings in the Group is treated as a capital
contribution. The fair value of employee services received, measured by
reference to the grant date fair value, is recognised over the vesting period as
an increase to investment in subsidiary undertakings, with a corresponding
credit to equity.

The social security contributions payable in connection with the grant of the
share options is considered as an integral part of the grant itself, and the
charge will be treated as cash-settled transaction.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHmRNE

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

(continued)
2.17 Employee benefits (continued)
(iii) Pension obligations

Group companies operate various defined contribution plans. The plans
are generally funded through payments to trustee-administered funds. A
defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group pays fixed
contributions into a separate entity on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary
basis. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further
contributions. The contributions are recognised as employee benefit expense
when they are due and are not reduced by contributions forfeited by those
employees who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully in the contributions.
Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash
refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.

2.18 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when: the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that an outflow
of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has
been reliably estimated. Restructuring provisions comprise lease termination
penalties and employee termination payments. Provisions are not recognised
for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow
will be required in settlement is determined by considering the class of
obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an
outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations
may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised
as interest expense.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B HmRNE

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

2.19 Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable

for the sale of goods in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Revenue

is shown, net of value-added tax, returns, rebates and discounts and after

eliminating sales within the Group. Revenue is recognised as follows:

@ Sales of goods

Sales of goods are recognised when a group entity has delivered products
to the customer, the customer has accepted the products and collectibility of
the related receivables is reasonably assured.

(b) Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. When
a receivable is impaired, the Group reduces the carrying amount to its
recoverable amount, being the estimated future cash flow discounted at the
original effective interest rate of the instrument, and continues unwinding the
discount as interest income. Interest income on impaired loans is recognised
using the original effective interest rate.

2.20 Operating leases

Leases in which a significant portion the risks and rewards of ownership are
retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments made
under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are
charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of
the lease.

2.21 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a
liability in the Group’s and Company’s financial statements in the period in
which the dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHmRNE

3. Financial risk management

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s financial assets include cash and cash equivalents, trade and
other receivables. The Group’s financial liabilities include borrowings, trade
and other payables and derivative financial instruments.

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk
(including foreign exchange risk, fair value interest rate risk, cash flow interest
rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk
management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance. These risks are limited by the Group’s financial management
policies and practices described below.

@ Credit risk

The Group has policies in place to ensure that liquid funds are placed with
renowned financial institutions registered in Mainland China and Hong Kong.
Sales of products are made to customers with appropriate credit history. The
Group performs credit evaluations on its customers.

Trade receivables are due within three months from the date of billing. As at
31 December 2010, 75% of the total trade receivables were due within three
months (2009: 79%).

As at 31 December 2010, the five largest customers accounted for
approximating 47% of the trade receivables carrying amount (2009: 47 %).
The maximum exposure to credit risk represents the carrying amounts of

trade receivables in the balance sheet.

Quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk
arising from trade receivables are set out in Note 13.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHmRNE

3. Financial risk management (continued) 3. HXEREIEE)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 31 HBEBREEE)
(b) Liquidiity risk ) BB LB

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements and its AEBEHNKREEHERRBES T K UEE
compliance with lending covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient BFAERLHENIRTE @ NIEREF THRHNIR S
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of funding from major  ## @ FIRESEIESHEEAGIZEHEROE
financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer AX % @ BB HNKEHNRESESE K -
term.

The following tables detail the remaining contractual maturities at the balance ~ T &5 7 REBE R AQA TR E B S LKA,
sheet date of the Group’s and the Company’s financial liabilities, which are  EHIE SR E (BFIZBE LT RK (B FEHFIR)
based on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments — 45& AR TR EMF S A2 ML REEN
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the ANEBRAAG A EEEN RN R TE BB AERN
balance sheet date) and the earliest date the Group and the Company can be  Flga & L RIHIB N ©

required to pay.

Where the loan agreement contains a repayable on demand clause which IR EZ =& A —HIREKEE 2GR T
gives the lender the unconditional right to call the loan at any time, the — B AR AR FREEEHHEREE  ZE
amounts repayable are classified in the earliest time bracket in which the S EYEEE BRI X 220 M8 - LAE AR LAZESK

lender could demand repayment. B PREERLER -
Total

contractual Within More than More than

undiscounted 1 year 1 year 2 years

cash flow oron butlessthan butless than
Carrying EHE) demand 2 years 5years More than
amount  MIAREEM —FRg —F “E& 5 years
The Group FER RAE ReREAE REBNE EFRWE  (BTREE nE#

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000
ARBTR  ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR AR®Tn  ARRTR

At 31 December 2010 R-E-Z2E+-A=1+-H

Borrowings B 390,481 412,313 217,382 99,048 94,363 1,520
Derivative financial instruments fTESRIA 668 668 668 - - -
Trade payables and bills payables ENRZET R ENZE 157,107 157,107 157,107 - - -
Accruals and other payables EET B A R A ERFE 20,324 20,324 20,324 - - -
At 31 December 2009 RZEZNE+-RA=1—H

Borrowings - 352,785 367,121 263,202 79,641 22,308 1,970
Derivative financial instruments TESRIA 2,750 2,750 1,833 917 - -
Trade payables and bills payables ERZSERRENER 72,824 72,824 72,824 - - -
Accruals and other payables JEH B R REMER R 22,699 22,699 22,699 - - -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHmRNE

3.  Financial risk management (continued) 3. HXEREE®)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 31 BBEBREEE)
(b) Liquidiity risk (continued) (b) B E LA ()
Total
contractual Within More than More than
undiscounted 1 year 1 year 2 years
cash flow oron hutlessthan butless than
Carrying EHE] demand 2 years 5years More than
amount  TIREEEMN —ERg —F4 bt 5years
The Company ADF FEE ReREEE BEBEAR OTEME ETRE% LER

RMB'000  RMB'000 ~ RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000
ARBTR  ARMTR AR®TR AR®TR ARRTR  ARETR

At 31 December 2010 R=B-FE+ZA=1-H

Borrowings EE 144,620 154,492 4,617 76,098 73,777 -
Derivative financial instruments fTEEmIA 668 668 668 - - -
Accruals and other payables [t ER R AR IR 2,439 2,439 2,439 - - -
Financial guarantees to subsidiaries BB ERTFAR 159,541 168,734 127,301 22,407 19,026 -
At 31 December 2009 RZEENF+-A=1T—H

Borrowings (= 168,800 174,462 117,419 57,043 - -
Derivative financial instruments TESRIA 2,750 2,750 1,833 917 - -
Acoruals and other payables eI ER REMENFTIE 1,834 1,834 1,834 - - -
Financial guarantees to subsidiaries BEERT TR 82,215 88,006 45,205 22,055 20,746 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHmRNE

3. Financial risk management (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(c) Cash flow and fair value interest-rate risk

The Group’s income and operating cash flows are substantially independent
of changes in market interest rates as the Group has no significant interest-
bearing assets. The Group’s exposure to changes in interest rates is mainly
attributable to its bank borrowings. Bank borrowings at variable rates expose
the Group to cash flow interest-rate risk. Bank borrowings at fixed rates
expose the Group to fair value interest-rate risk. Details of the Group’s bank
borrowings are disclosed in Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.
The Group analyses its interest rate exposure on a dynamic basis and to
hedge its variable rate by fixed rate instruments, when necessary. Various
scenarios are simulated taking into consideration refinancing, renewal of
existing positions, alternative financing and hedging. Based on the various
scenarios, the Group manages its cash flow interest rate risk by using
floating-to-fixed interest rate swaps. Such interest rate swaps have the
economic effect of converting borrowings from floating rates to fixed rates.
Generally, the Group raises long-term borrowings at floating rates and swaps
them into fixed rates. Under the interest rate swaps, the Group agrees with
other parties to exchange, at specified intervals (primarily semi-annually), the
difference between fixed contract rates and floating-rate interest amounts
calculated by reference to the agreed notional amounts.

During 2010 and 2009, the Group’s borrowings at variable rate were
denominated in United States dollars (“USD”), RMB and Hong Kong dollars
(“HKD").

It is estimated that a general increase/decrease of 50 basis points as at 31
December 2010 in bank borrowing interest rates for bank loans with all other
variables held constant would decrease/increase the profit after taxation by
approximately RMB1,851,000 (2009: RMB1,605,000).

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming that the change
in interest rates had occurred at the balance sheet date and had been applied
to the exposure to interest rate risk for non derivative financial instruments in
existence at that date.

3. HERREE®)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHmRNE

3. Financial risk management (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(d) Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in Mainland China with most of the transactions
settled in RMB. Foreign exchange rate risk arises when future commercial
transactions or recognised assets and liabilities are denominated in a currency
that is not the entity’s functional currency.

The Group’s assets and liabilities, and transactions arising from its operations
primarily do not expose to material foreign exchange risk. Other than certain
trade receivables, cash and cash equivalents, borrowings and derivative
financial instruments denominated in USD and HKD, details of which have
been disclosed in Note 13, Note 15, Note 18 and Note 21, respectively. The
Group’s assets and liabilities are primarily denominated in RMB. Other than
approximately 37% (2009: 33%) of the sales are denominated in USD and
certain expenses in HKD. The Group mainly generates RMB from sales in
Mainland China to meet its liabilities denominated in RMB. The Group has not
used any forward contracts as the cost-benefit is considered not effective.
The Group has used foreign currency bank borrowings to minimize its
exposure on foreign exchange risk.

RMB has experienced certain appreciation in recent years which is the major
reason for the exchange losses arised from operating activities and exchange
gain arised from financing activities recognised by the Group for the years
ended 31 December 2010 and 2009. Further depreciation or appreciation
of USD and HKD against RMB will affect the Group’s financial position and
results of operations.

A 1% strengthening/weakening RMB against USD and HKD as at the
respective balance sheet dates would increase/decrease profit after taxation
by approximately RMB953,000 (2009: RMB1,200,000) and by approximately
RMB223,000 (2009: RMB139,000) respectively, mainly as a result of foreign
exchange gain/loss on translation of USD and HKD denominated bank
borrowings.

3. HBRKREER®)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHmRNE

3. Financial risk management (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(e) Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk because certain
investments held by the Group are classified as available-for-sale financial
assets. As the amount of such financial assets is not material to the Group,
the exposure to price risk is considered to be insignificant.

3.2 Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the
amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue
new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the
basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total
capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings (including current and non-
current borrowings as shown in the consolidated balance sheet) less cash
and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as “equity”, as shown in the
consolidated balance sheet, plus net debt.

During 2010, the Group’s strategy, which was unchanged from 2009, was
to maintain the debt equity ratio to be in a net cash position. The net cash

3. HBRKREER®)

31 BHBEBEXRE)
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amounts at 31 December 2010 and 2009 were as follows: E-E—ZTFELK_TTNF+_A=1+—8 %
Re s eB|MT:

2010 2009

—E-ZF —ETNEF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARETTT

Total borrowings (Note 18) #BIEE (MizE18) (390,481) (352,785)
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B BeRkBReEEY

(Note 15) (MI7E15) 524,409 514,744

Net cash FIRE 133,928 161,959

The decrease in the net cash position during 2010 resulted primarily from the ~ —ZF —ZFFIE /KR EBE AL EESHT

decrease in net cash generated from operating activities.

BIREFRRRD °
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3. Financial risk management (continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation

HKFRS 7 requires disclosure of fair value measurements by level of the
following fair value measurement hierarchy:

o Level 1 — Quoted price (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities. The Group does not have this type of financial
instruments.

° Level 2 — Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1

that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices). As at 31 December
2010, the Group had derivative financial instruments of RMB668,000
(2009: RMB2,750,000) that are within this category.

° Level 3 — Inputs for asset or liability that are not based on observable
market data (that is, unobservable inputs). As at 31 December 2010,
the Group had available-for-sale financial assets of RMB200,000
(2009: RMB400,000) that are within this category.

The fair value of derivative financial instruments that are not traded in an active
market is determined by valuation techniques. These valuation techniques
maximise the use of observable market data where it is available and rely as
little as possible on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to
fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.
Otherwise it is included in level 3.
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e BHmRNE

4, Critical accounting estimates and judgements
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The
resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related
actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are discussed below.

(a) Estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives and related
depreciation charges for its property, plant and equipment. This estimate is
based on the historical experience of the actual useful lives of property, plant
and equipment of similar nature and functions. It could change significantly as
a result of technical innovations and competitor actions in response to market
conditions. Management will increase the depreciation charge where useful
lives are less than previously estimated lives or it will write-off or write-down
technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or
sold.

(b) Estimated impairment of intangible assets, inventories and
trade receivables

The Group makes provision for impairment of intangible assets, inventories
and trade receivables based on an assessment of the recoverability of
intangible assets, inventories and trade receivables. Provisions are applied to
intangible assets, inventories and trade receivables where events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the balances may not be recoverable. The
identification of impairment requires the use of judgement and estimates.
Where the expectation is different from the original estimate, such difference
will impact the carrying value of intangible assets, inventories and trade
receivables and provision for impairment in the period in which such estimate
has been changed.
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e BHmRNE

4. Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(continued)

(c) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong and Mainland China.
Significant judgement is required in determining the provision for income
taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The
Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates
of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of
these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the
period in which such determination is made.

5. Turnover and segment information

(a) Turnover

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacturing of fine chemicals from
natural resources for use in aroma chemicals and pharmaceutical products
and the trading of natural materials and fine chemicals. Turnover for the
Group represents revenue from the sale of goods.

4. EXREEHETIRAE )

(c) R8st
REBMHEEERBMPEAESMAER - 258
ERBRFERBER - BEEHERHE - £—
MEBBRET  BHZRZFNFAEFRORER
MEETHETHETN AEEREHRETEE
BRI ER RIS EEE ER
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5. HEXERSBER

(a) e
REBEBREFBAAEREEBMA 2R -
NAREBtEmRBEEERUAREERARE
it RS - AEBEERENIEE S RATE
B2 g o

2010 2009
—E-EF ZTThF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBFIT
Sale of goods HEEm
(net of value-added tax) (B BRIBETR) 908,251 728,494

(b) Segment information

The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as the Executive
Directors. The Executive Directors review the Group’s internal reporting in
order to assess performance and allocate resources. The Executive Directors
have determined the operating segments based on these reports. The
Executive Directors consider the business from product perspective.

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group was organised into two
main operating segments:

(1) manufacturing and selling of fine chemicals; and

) trading of natural materials and fine chemicals.

(b) AEHER

HITESREIRKERKSE - WITEFEHAR
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5.  Turnover and segment information (continued) 5. HEERIERE)
(b) Segment information (continued) (b) DEBERL(Z)
The segment results for the year ended 31 December 2010 are as follows: HE—Z—ZTHF+_-_A=1t—"HItFEZ 3%
BT
2010 2009
—E-%F ZETNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TF T ARET T
Revenue &
Manufacturing EE 828,351 655,959
Trading 25 79,900 72,535
Total revenue Felligas 908,251 728,494
Segment results DEEE
Manufacturing HE 194,185 160,926
Trading 25 6,918 6,162
Unallocated corporate expense — net AOB AR H — 58 (37,020) (30,074)
Finance costs, net BB - FEE (11,906) (16,036)
Income tax expense PSR (22,108) (13,296)
Profit for the year ARE A 130,069 107,682
Other segment items included in the consolidated income statement are as st ALZEWERZKRZEMHPEE AT -
follows:
Manufacturing Trading
HE g5
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-Zf —TThE —E-ZF —TThEF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETT AR®T R AREFT
Depreciation (Note 7) e (FIsE7) 31,087 26,136 120 107
Amortisation (Notes 6 and 8) 3 (fosEe8) 11,406 8,778 - =
Provision for/(reversal of) B AERE
impairment of intangible Bl (Bm)
assets (Note 8) (PfzE8) 6,000 (856) - -
Provision for impairment of inventories FERERD
(Note 12) (BF=E12) 1,001 (255) 109 (5,721)
Write-down of inventories (Note 12) FEREEE(KisE12) 332 1,396 - -
Provision for impairment of R 5 IR FURE
trade receivables (Note 13) BB (MiE13) 1,192 109 = 17
Reversal of impairment of H At FEWGRR (E
other receivables (Note 14) B[l (fizE14) - (3,000) - =
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5. Turnover and segment information (continued)

(b) Segment information (continued)

The segment assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2010 and capital
expenditure for the year then ended are as follows:

5. HEXERIBER®E)

(b) AEER(E)
R_ZE—ZEF+_A=+—HzEENAESE
REEZAILFE 2 EARIMOT

2010 2009
—E-BF —ETNEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T

Segment assets SEEE
Manufacturing HE 922,216 746,125
Trading 25 35,642 21,583
Pledged bank deposits B 2 IRITIFR 57,961 27,122
Cash and cash equivalents HeMIREEEY 524,409 514,744
Other corporate assets HEf R R &EE 9,036 6,548
Total assets BEMAE 1,549,264 1,316,122

Segment liabilities PMEME
Manufacturing HE 163,327 97,343
Trading = 15,100 7,251
Bank borrowings RITER 370,161 321,015
Deferred tax liabilities EEFRIBEE 10,500 10,500
Current income tax liabilities BB a & 5,766 3,886
Other corporate liabilities HiARIBE 24,432 32,142
Total liabilities BERRE 588,286 472,137
2010 2009
—E-BF —ETNEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T

Capital expenditure EREX
Manufacturing HE 56,833 43,407
Trading = 113 98
56,946 43,505

Segment assets consist primarily of land use rights, property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets, inventories and receivables. Segment liabilities
comprise operating liabilities. They exclude items such as cash and cash
equivalents, taxation and corporate borrowings. Capital expenditure
comprises additions to property, plant and equipment (Note 7), land use
rights (Note 6), and intangible assets (Note 8).

DHEETEERIMERE VX BEER
B BREAE HFEMEWRFE - DHEERR
rEaE  BEreRRehERARSEB - HE
RABMEESIER - EARXBRENE  BEX
R (ME7) ~ DI E R (HRE6) AR BT EE
(PFifiE8) 2 1888
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5. Turnover and segment information (continued)

(b) Segment information (continued)

The Group’s sales within the two operating segments are made to customers
in three main geographical areas.

5. HEERIERE)
(b) DEER(E)
RNEBMALL DI =EE B[R L -

2010 2009
—E-EF —ETNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARET T
Turnover e
— Mainland China — A 5] (A 571,643 484,267
— Europe — BUM 173,265 143,138
— Asia (excluding Mainland China) — M (P BIAHERSN) 85,802 56,546
— Others —EAfth 77,541 44,543
908,251 728,494
Sales are allocated based on the places/countries in which customers are  $HE&ERE IR R FAEMIE BRDEE ©
located.
2010 2009
—E-FF —ETNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBT T
Total assets BEBE
— Mainland China — A B (A 1,477,821 1,250,453
- Hong Kong — &5 67,041 63,784
— Others —Hh 4,402 1,885
1,549,264 1,316,122

Total assets are allocated based on where the assets are located.

No geographical analysis of capital expenditure is presented as substantially
all of the Group’s capital expenditure was incurred in respect of assets
located in Mainland China.

Revenues of RMB203,502,000 (2009: RMB156,126,000) and
RMB114,068,000 (2009: RMB92,787,000) are derived from two major
customers. These revenues are mainly attributable to the manufacturing
segment.

BEREDIZREEMEMORE -

HRAEERAIDEARAZRERRE AN
BEESE AT EEREAFIZIWEDH

K EMEEZE P /K5 B A203,502,000 7T
ARB(ZZTZTNF : 156,126,000 T AR ) &
114,068,0007T A R (ZEF HL4F : 92,787,000
TTARE) - W EWDZEBRBEEDT °
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6. Land use rights — Group

The Group’s interests in land use rights represent prepaid operating lease

payments and their net book values are analysed as follows:

T fERE - RE
7 55 [0 o 50 PR B2 R 25 R TR AR B AR MO 3K
B HIREFEAMMT -

2010 2009
—E-=F —TTNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T ARBFIT
In Mainland China, held on FAFR B AT, - #2102 504F
Leases of between 10 to 50 years 9,541 9,851
2010 2009
—E-FF —ETNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%ETR ARBFIT
Opening net book amount FREFE 9,851 8,631
Additions NS - 1,330
Amortisation of prepaid operating BHHTR SRR
lease payments (Note 24) (Mf7E24) (310) (110)
Closing net book amount HRERIREFE 9,541 9,851
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7. Property, plant and equipment - Group 7. Y¥E BERRZRE - -£EH
Leasehold
improvements,
office furniture
and equipment
Plant and HENE - Motor  Construction-
Buildings machinery  %£{§ . BAE vehicles in-progress Total
EBF HE RS PUNET ] RE EEIR fit
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARET R ARBTR ARET T ARET TR ARBT T
At 1 January 2009 RZZZhE-F-H
Cost A 113,033 260,769 9,787 3415 52,734 439,738
Accumulated depreciation Z5HE (11,620) 45,727) (3,441) (3,132) - (63,920)
Net book amount IREFE 101,413 215,042 6,346 283 52,734 375,818
Year ended 31 December HE-ZENE
2009 +-A=1t-HILEE
Opening net book amount EREFE 101,413 215,042 6,346 283 52,734 375,818
Additions NE - 365 309 - 33,957 34,631
Transfers & 161 31,870 - - (32,031) -
Disposals (Note 32) & (Fi3¥a2) = - (15) - - (15)
Depreciation (Note 24) HE(MzE4) (3,287) (21,373 (1,363) (220) - (26,243
Closing net book amount FRIEEHE 98,287 225,904 5,277 63 54,660 384,191
At 31 December 2009 R=BENE
+-A=t-H
Cost A 113,194 293,004 9,940 3415 54,660 474213
Accumulated depreciation 2itiE (14,807) (67,100) (4,663) (3:3%2) - (90,022)
Net book amount IREFE 98,287 225,904 5217 63 54,660 384,191
Year ended 31 December BE-S-2F
2010 t=A=t-BLEFE
Opening net book amount EMREFE 98,287 225,904 5217 63 54,660 384,191
Additions NE - 6,396 437 - 37,503 44,336
Transfers b 11,924 7,022 - - (18,946) -
Disposals (Note 32) () = = (4 = = (4
Depreciation (Note 24) FrE(fizEod) (3,557) (26,264) (1,323) 63) - (31,207)
Closing net book amount FRIEETE 106,654 213,058 4,387 = 73217 397,316
At 31 December 2010 R-g-8f
t=A=t-H
Cost A 125,118 306,422 10,333 3415 73217 518,505
Accumulated depreciation RitiE (18,464) (93,364) 6,946} (3,415) = (121,189)
Net book amount REFE 106,654 213,058 4,387 - 73,217 397,316

The Group’s buildings including buildings under construction, totalling ASEZEFRIELEEF S £171,203,0007TA
RMB171,203,000 (2009: RMB129,300,000) are built on pieces of land ~ERE(ZZZ R4 : 129,300,0007T A KKE) - HR
in Mainland China with lease terms of 50 years up to December 2047, HEIRMZIE i E - BIEHS0FE - HHIR=F
December 2048, May 2053 and April 2054, respectively. WEFE+=—A -  ZTWON\F+=A - ZTR=F
HFARZZERNFMAER
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7. Property, plant and equipment — Group (continued)
Depreciation expense of RMB28,846,000 (2009: RMB23,644,000) has been
charged in ‘cost of goods sold’” and RMB2,361,000 (2009: RMB2,599,000) in
‘administrative expenses’.

7. Y¥E BERIRE- -KE@E)

HEE FHHP28,846,000t ARB(ZZETNF ¢
23,644,0007c AR®) I EEEmAA ] 288 -
2,361,000t ARE(ZZFZ N4 © 2,599,0007T

AREE)BIFFATITHER |9 -

Analysis of construction-in-progress is: EREIRESTAT :
2010 2009
—E-FF —ETNEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETF T
Construction costs of buildings EFEENAR 64,549 31,013

Cost of leasehold improvements THE Y KB B K

and plant and machinery 8,668 23,647
73,217 54,660

Property, plant and equipment with a net book amount of nil (2009:
RMB84,854,000) were pledged as collateral for the Group’s borrowings.

—T-TFEEFEWENYE - BELREEAN
SEEBEZHBER(ZTZNF : 84,854,0007T A

R¥) -
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8. Intangible assets - Group

8. #EFEE-&H

Patents and Product
technical development
know-how costs
ERER Em Total
5 9l A0 BB R AN st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T AR¥TF T AR®T T
At 1 January 2009 R=BZEhF—-HF—H
Cost (D% 12,161 79,925 92,086
Accumulated amortisation RETHEH (5,483) (29,162) (34,645)
Net book amount IR R E 6,678 50,763 57,441
Year ended BE-_ZZNAF+=A
31 December 2009 =t+—HILFE
Opening net book amount EAIIR T FE 6,678 50,763 57,441
Additions NE - 7,544 7,544
Amortisation (Note 24) B8 (M15E24) (593) (8,075) (8,668)
Reversal for impairment (Note 24) S ERE O (MisE24) - 856 856
Closing net book amount B4R IR RE 6,085 51,088 57,173
At 31 December 2009 R-BEAFE+=A=+—H
Cost B AN 12,161 87,469 99,630
Accumulated amortisation REHEERRIE
and impairment (6,076) (36,381) (42,457)
Net book amount IR FE 6,085 51,088 57,173
Year ended BE-_Z-ZTF+=A
31 December 2010 =t+—HLFE
Opening net book amount HR)IR R E 6,085 51,088 57,173
Additions INE - 12,610 12,610
Amortisation (Note 24) BeH (M 5E24) (1,293) (9,803) (11,096)
Provision for impairment (Note 24) SE B (M sE24) - (6,000) (6,000)
Closing net book amount BRIRE S E 4,792 47,895 52,687
At 31 December 2010 R=ZB—ZF
+=A=+—H
Cost D% 12,161 100,079 112,240
Accumulated amortisation RETESE ORE
and impairment (7,369) (562,184) (59,553)
Net book amount IREFE 4,792 47,895 52,687
Note: PR -
(@) Amortisation of RMB11,096,000 (2009: RMBS8,668,000) is included in cost of goods @) 11,096,000 AR H 2 65 KRB (— FENE ¢
sold in the consolidated income statement. 8$,6£8°,00075/\E”ﬁm“)Eﬁ)\%mé”ﬁlﬁﬁi’%ﬁ%;uu
(b) The Group made a provision for impairment of intangible assets of RMB6,000,000 (o) 6,000,000 A R# 2 B EERE(ZTTNEF -

(2009: reversal of impairment of RMB856,000). The amount had been included in

cost of goods sold in the consolidated income statement.

#[856,000 T ARK) Bt \G A IR REEE R

BXARA o
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9. Investments in and amounts due from 9.
subsidiaries - Company

RHEBLARZREREWRKER

AIMIE - 2 F

(As restated) (As restated)

(&251) (&%)

31 December 31 December 1 January
2010 2009 2009
—EB-2F ZEENF ZEENF
t=A=+-8  +-A=t—~ —A—H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT ARET T ARETTT

Unlisted investments, at cost FELEHRE - BEAE 91,713 91,713 91,572

Amounts due from subsidiaries (Note a) FEUSHTE A 7388 (33a) 412,590 423,434 509,671
504,303 515,147 601,243

Less: B

Amounts due from subsidiaries AN NG E e

— current portion (Note b) —mEEp i (FEb) (153,609) (168,998) (255,235)

350,694 346,149 346,008

Notes: BE -

(@) The balance includes amounts due from subsidiaries of RMB258,981,000 (1 January  (a) Z B AR R A B 1% B /9 ;B $£258,981,0007T

2009 and 31 December 2009: RMB254,436,000) which are equity funding in nature.

(b) The amounts due from subsidiaries have been reclassified from non-current assets (b)
to current assets to conform with the current year’s presentation. The amount
reclassified as at 1 January 2009 and 31 December 2009 were RMB255,235,000
and RMB168,998,000 respectively. Such balance is unsecured, non-interest bearing
and is repayable on demand.

ARE(ZZEZNF—A—BR=_ZTNE+=A
=+—H : 254,436,000TARH) -

HE_ZZNFE A BHBULEER-ZTH
F+=A=+—8 ' 5 7255,235,0007T AR# K&
168,998,0007T A R # 2 FE W BT B8 A R IE 7T AJE
REBEERR  BEReECEN I RERDEES
BIATFE ARFETIR o ZRREREEIF - EHHF
B RAEZEKERER -

The particulars of the subsidiaries at 31 December 2010: MEARLZFERAT

Percentage of

equity interest

Place of attributable to

incorporation/ Issued and fully the Group (a)

operation paid up capital rEE

Name ML, Activities BETR PEfh AR RE

8 Fedioh ] TEXH HRRAK Bot(a)

EcoGreen Fine Chemicals Limited British Virgin Islands Investment holding US$95,000 100%
ABRERES REER 95,0003 7T

EcoGreen Fine Chemicals British Virgin Islands Investment holding US$1 100%
Manufacturing Limited RBRLHS REER Ev

EcoGreen Fine Chemicals B.V. Netherlands Sale of fine chemicals EUR18,000 100%
i HERB 2R 18,0008/ 72

EcoGreen Holding B.V. Netherlands Investment holding EUR18,000 100%
Tl REER 18,0008/ 72

EcoGreen Investments Limited Hong Kong Investment holding HK$2 100%
hiaREAc TEBAR AT BB REER 28T

@ ECOGREEN FINE CHEMICALS GROUP LIMITED - F 1854t TR EBR A A
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RETBR B 2 REREWKHEA
RFIE - AR (#)
HEARZHEMT :

9. Investments in and amounts due from 9.
subsidiaries — Company (continued)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are: (continued)

Percentage of
equity interest

Place of attributable to
incorporation/ Issued and fully the Group (a)
operation paid up capital AEE
Name ML, Activities BRTR FEft AR RE
=% R TEXEK BB Ao tk(a)
Sino Bright International Trading Hong Kong Inactive HK$10,000 100%
Limited BE HEXg 10,000/ 7T
REERESHERAA
Doingcom International Limited Hong Kong Trading of HK$10,000 100%
eBfE] ey SHU NG > fine chemicals 10,000/ 7T
EERAEm
Xiamen Doingcom Biotechnology Mainland China Manufacturing of RMB50,000,000 100%
Co., Ltd. (b) NP fine chemicals 50,000,0007T
EFh A YRR AR 2 F0) EEREEm AEE
EBEEIEEERAR(0)C) Mainland China Research and US$2,000,000 100%
(Shanghai Fine Chemicals HRE A development of 2,000,000% 7T
Company Limited) (b)(c) fine chemicals
RERBEBRCER
Xiamen Doingcom Chemical Mainland China Manufacturing and RMB66,000,000 100%
Co., Ltd. (o) R A sale of fine chemicals 66,000,0007T
EFFE2BRARID) FEREERA R m AR
RIEPIMER ZERRF(b)(C) Mainland China Sale of forestry products RMB10,000,000 70%
(Chuxiong Zhongyi Forestry Trading At HEMNEER 10,000,0007T
Co. Ltd.) (b)(c) AR
Xiamen Doingcom Enterprise Mainland China Sale of fine chemicals RMB20,000,000 100%
Limited (b) B A HERAEER 20,000,0007T
EFTRESERARID) AR
Xiamen Hoozyn Life Chemistry Mainland China Research and US$1,400,000 100%
Technology Limited (b) R A development of 1,400,000 7T
EFIRR AR AR AR (0) fine chemicals
HERRERR SR
Xiamen Sinoloon Import and Mainland China Inactive RMB7,000,000 100%
Export Co., Ltd. (o) HEIA EEEG 7,000,0007%
EF RS OAR AR AR
BRAFo)
Xiamen Sinotek Enterprise Mainland China Manufacturing and RMB20,000,000 100%
Development Co., Ltd. (b) =Y api sale of fine chemicals 20,000,0007T
EFTRREEERFBRAF(D) FERFEERAER AEE
Zhangzhou Zhongyi Fine Mainland China Manufacturing and sale of US$6,510,442 100%
Chemicals Co., Ltd. (b) FRE A fine chemicals* (Note) 6,510,442% 7T

M A E TR QR (b)

Note:  Operation will commerce in year 2011.

EERBERMER
()

I S L
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9. Investments in and amounts due from
subsidiaries — Company (continued)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are: (continued)

Notes:

(@ The shares of EcoGreen Fine Chemicals Limited are held directly by the Company.
The shares of other subsidiaries are held indirectly.

(b) Xiamen Doingcom Chemical Co., Ltd. (“Xiamen Doingcom”) and Xiamen Doingcom
Biotechnology Co., Ltd. are sino-foreign owned enterprises established in Xiamen,
Fujian Province, Mainland China for a term of 20 years up to October 2017 and July
2024 respectively. Shanghai Fine Chemicals Company Limited is a wholly foreign
owned enterprise established in Shanghai, Mainland China for a term of 35 years up
to March 2040. Xiamen Doingcom Enterprise Limited is a limited liability enterprise
established in Xiamen, Fujian Province, Mainland China for a term of 20 years up to
June 2024. Xiamen Hoozyn Life Chemistry Technology Limited, Xiamen Sinoloon
Import and Export Co., Ltd. and Xiamen Sinotek Enterprise Development Co.,
Ltd. are wholly foreign owned enterprises established in Xiamen, Fujian Province,
Mainland China for a term of 10 years, 17 years and 20 years up to June 2012, April
2012 and July 2016, respectively. Chuxiong Zhongyi Forestry Trading Co., Ltd. is a
limited liability enterprise established in Chuxiong, Yunnan Province, Mainland China
for a term of 30 years up to March 2037. Zhangzhou Zhongyi Fine Chemicals Co.,
Ltd. is wholly foreign owned enterprise established in Zhangzhou, Fujian Province,
Mainland China for a term of 50 years up to April 2057.

(c) The English names of Shanghai Fine Chemcials Co., Ltd. and Chuxiong Zhongyi
Forestry Trading Co., Ltd. are for identification purpose only.

9. RHBATAZREREWRHER
BIRE - NDF(#)
HEBARZFEENT : (&)

fi -

(@) EcoGreen Fine Chemicals Limited i% {7 1 7~ A & &
BRE - HMMBARRMIMERS -

b) B2 ER AR REMFHEMRRERA
AIREFENMEERBEMTRILZPINEGED
¥ KEHAE-1F DR -T—+F+ARE=
TWFL AL - EEEILBEERARABRFEH
Wi BB 2 BINERE - KEHA=TH
F - EZTNTFE=AIF - BT HESERAA
AR BEAAEREEPITTRY 2 BRAR - &2
HAZ+F  ZE-T-NF AL - BEFFKREL
BHEERAR - BEFIRREE QAR AR REPFR
BREXZEARATMIARINERSE - EPEAM
BELEMITKY - KEHARATE  +EFR
Z+F  PREZT——FA - ZFT——-FWA
R=ZT—XRFELAL - BEPIEHEEZERAA
NP BN ERERETKY ZBRAR - EEH
BETEE-_Z=tF=HF It - BMNPRBALT
BRATA—ERINERE  ERENMERE R
MM EEAR+FE_TREFMALE -

(©) LEENMBERARARREEEMERSER AT
R AT E A

10. Investment in an associate - Group 10. BEQRKRE-£H
2010 2009
—s-%F —zzhE
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREFIT
At 1 January and 31 December R—B—BEt+t=-—A=+—8H 1,750 1,750

The associate is an unlisted company and has not commenced business.
Particulars of the associate are as follows:

AEBRECHMEAR  A—M¥FLWmAR - B
RBRRMEMER - BMERRZFEOT

Place of Percentage of equity
incorporation/ interest attributable
Name operation Principal activities Fully paid up capital to the Group
g AR, TEEK BRREA AEEEGREESL
Jianyang Zhongtian Mainland China Manufacturing of RMB5,000,000 35%
Forestry Chemical FR B A 3 forestry chemicals 5,000,0007T
Co., Ltd. FEWMUEER AR
EEHRRMEERAR

ECOGREEN FINE CHEMICALS GROUP LIMITED - F 1854t TR EBR A A
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11. Available-for-sale financial assets — Group

1. AHEESREE - KE

2010 2009
—E-ZF —EThF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
At 1 January R—A—BE+=ZA=+— 400 400
Provision for impairment VEAIE] (200) -
At 31 December BRt+—A=+— 200 400
Less: Non-current portion B IEmENE D (200) (400)
Current portion MENEL D = -
Available-for-sale financial assets are unlisted equity securities. AR ESREERAIFLMIRAES
12. Inventories - Group 12. BE—£H
2010 2009
—E-ZF ZEENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBFIT
Raw materials B 72,752 50,589
Work-in-progress R 3,055 865
Finished goods BIRK @ 42,643 22,573
118,450 74,027
Less: Provision for impairment W FERERE
of inventories (2,961) (1,851)
115,489 72,176
The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included in cost of goods R AFRAXZ Rt ABLERK A ZFEK AR

sold amounted to RMB559,309,000 (2009: RMB451,537,000).

The Group made a provision for impairment of inventories of RMB1,110,000
during the year ended (2009: reversal of impairment of RMB5,977,000). The
amount had been included in cost of goods sold in the consolidated income

statement.

Write-down of inventories amounted to RMB332,000 (2009: RMB1,396,000)

was included in cost of sales.

559,309,000t AR (=T Z

TTARKE) o

E-T-EEEEEHEE

N4 : 451,537,000

SR {ER$E1,110,0007T

ARB(ZZZTNF : #(05,977,0007TARE) o

ZHBEFAGERAREHE

DN

FERMAC332,000t AREBHABEERKANR
(ZZZT N : 1,396,000 T ARE) o
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13. Trade receivables — Group 13. BRI RF—5H
2010 2009
—E-TF —TEThEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTIT
Trade receivables FEURRZ ZRER 293,245 205,459
Less: Provision for impairment B R ZIRFOBERHE
of trade receivables (2,932) (2,232)
290,313 203,227
The carrying amounts of trade receivables approximate their fair values. FERRZ ZIRFIREEHEE A FERSE -

The credit period granted by the Group to its customers is generally 60 to 90 AEEA FERF 22 EH—M60E 0K » H
days. For certain customers with good credit histories, an extended period up B RIFEEFEFLNEP - EERZFES180HME

to 180 days is allowed. The aging analysis of trade receivables is as follows: B o IR GIRA IR ITIT ¢
2010 2009
—E-FF ZTEThEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARBFIT
0 to 30 days 0Z 30K 80,759 69,233
31 to 60 days 31Z 60K 72,602 53,726
61 to 90 days 61 90K 66,796 39,024
91 to 180 days 91 180K 72,890 43,182
181 to 365 days 181E 365K 198 107
Over 365 days 365K A - 187
293,245 205,459

Less: Provision for impairment B MR SR TR (B R

of trade receivables (2,932) (2,232)
290,313 203,227

The credit quality of trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired BB AAKEERZ 2 BRI ZIEF - HEEE
can be assessed by reference to the historical information about counter ~ EEIZNAFABKRE SR FFEIZREME o IR
party default rates. The existing counterparties do not have significant default ~BWEFIEEAMNER - BRAEBEZFEHE
in the past. There is no concentration of credit risk with respect to trade ~ EEA - MARBENRZ ZIRFK 2 EERRIF BN
receivables, as the Group has a large number of customers. &£ o
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13. Trade receivables — Group (continued) 13. EURRZER KB &)
The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables are denominated in A& EHE F FEUGRAEEREIA T3 S A6

the following currencies:

2010 2009

—E-ZF —ZETNF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AREET T

Renminbi AR 214,795 161,214
US dollar eI 75,518 42,013
290,313 203,227

Movements on the provision for impairment of trade receivables are as & S EWFURERBREE T -

follows:

2010 2009
—E-ZF ZEENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT
At 1 January —H—H 2,232 2,106
Provision for impairment of trade receivable FENCFOR B B 1,192 126

Receivables written off during the year FRF AREEWE N EKRZ S
as uncollectible AR SR (492) -
At 31 December +=-—A=+—H 2,932 2,232

The creation and release of provisions for impaired receivables have been ¥/ E B BN FEENRIMNBEE BEELE
included in administrative expenses in the consolidated income statement. Wz XFAITERE AR o £ EEBRS P RS
Amounts are charged to the allowance account when there is no expectation %8 —#& & /& 78 EAfE AU B ZEHME S I #iE -

of recovering additional cash.

14. Prepayments and other receivables - Group and 14. B REREMAEKRRE-£H

Company ) /NG|
Group
£8
2010 2009
—E-EF —EENF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARBETTT

Company
AT
2010 2009
—E-ZF —EThF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARETTT

Prepayment for purchases BB RETR IR
of raw materials 92,512 41,090 - -
Input value-added tax recoverable AT Bl HE TR I E 5,448 2,863 = -
Others Hith 1,638 1,635 40 56
99,598 45,488 40 56

The carrying amounts of other receivables approximate their fair values and ~ HAbEWIAREBEEL A FERE B EZENUA

are mainly denominated in RMB. R¥TIME -
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15. Pledged bank deposits, cash and cash

equivalents — Group and Company

15. BEFZRITENR  REREH

BeEE - KEKRAFE

Group Company
58 AT

2010 2009 2010 2009

—EB-2F —ZETNEF —E-ZF —EThF

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARETFT AR¥T T AREBT T

Pledged bank deposits BB RITHFER 57,961 27,122 - -
Cash and cash equivalents Be MERBESIAR

Cash at bank and on hand RITRFEEE 524,409 514,744 1,037 21,626

582,370 541,866 1,037 21,626

The carrying amounts of pledged bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents

REEMRZRITHER RERFRBALHENIK

are denominated in the following currencies: HEAEESHSENT
Group Company
&= AT

2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-EF ZEENF —E-FF ZEENF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREETIT AR¥T T ARET T
Renminbi AR # 568,450 505,183 = =
Hong Kong dollar 7T 2,309 13,853 701 8,105
US dollar e 9,567 21,720 336 13,521
Euro E 2,024 1,089 - -
Others EHAh 20 21 - -
582,370 541,866 1,037 21,626
As at 31 December 2010, the Group has pledged bank deposits and R=-Z—ZF+-_A=+—H ' A5£EHKE

cash and cash equivalents of approximately RMB568,450,000 (2009:
RMB505,183,000) denominated in RMB, which is not a freely convertible
currency in the international market and its exchange rate is determined by

the People’s Bank of China.

At 31 December 2010, bank balance of RMB57,961,000 (2009:
RMB27,122,000) have been pledged to banks to secure credit facilities

granted to subsidiaries.

The cash and cash equivalents are not exposed to material credit risk.

EEBZRTFHARSEERRSEE LD
568,450,000 A REE(ZZZ N4 : 505,183,000
TTARE) - HUARKEIIE - BB TER BT
LEREREYE  HEXRHPBARBITERE °

RZE—ZEF+=-A=+—H

+ #£57,961,0007T

ARE(ZZEZNE : 27,122,000c AREE) Z 4R
TERE FAEREANB R RARFTREEE

B 2 I -

RekERRSBEILBEEANEERR -
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16. Share capital, premium and share options - 16. B#* - HELERE SER

Group and Company YNE
(a) Share capital - Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each (a) BA—SREE1BTZ2EBER
Nominal value
Number of of ordinary
shares shares
Authorised: EE K& E EREREE
(thousands) RMB’000
(FR) ARET T
At 1 January 2009, RZTENF—A—H -
31 December 2009 ZEENF+ZA=T—HEK
and 31 December 2010 —EZ—=Z=F+—-_HA=+—H 2,000,000 212,000
Number of Nominal
fully paid value of
shares ordinary Share
EHRR shares Premium Total
Issued: BT BRHEE ZEREE BB E &5t
(thousands) RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(FB) AR®T T AR¥TT AR®TT

At 1 January 2009, RIZEZNF—H—R -
31 December 2009 and —ETNF+_A=+—HRK
31 December 2010 —FE-—ZTF+-A=+—H 465,210 49,232 181,841 231,073
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16. Share capital, premium and share options -
Group and Company (continued)

(b) Share options

Pursuant to a resolution of the shareholders of the Company passed on 16
February 2004, a share option scheme (“the Share Option Scheme”) was
approved and adopted. Under the Share Option Scheme, the Company’s
directors may, at their sole discretion, grant options to any employee, non-
executive director, supplier, customer, person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support to the Group, shareholder and
adviser or consultant of the Group to subscribe for shares in the Company
at a price per share of not less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the
shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange on the
date of the offer of grant; or (i) the average closing price of the shares as
stated in the daily quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five trading
days immediately preceding the date of the offer of grant; and (i) the nominal
value of a share. A nominal consideration of RMB1.04 (equivalent of HK$1)
is payable on acceptance of the grant of options. The maximum number of
shares which may be issued upon the exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option scheme adopted by the Group from time to time must not
in aggregate exceed 30% of the share capital of the Company in issue from
time to time. The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10
years up to February 2014. The Group has no legal or constructive obligation
to repurchase or settle the options in cash.

16. BAX ZERERE -S£EK
YNCIIE-9)

b) ERE
BEAAFBRER-_ETNF-A+ BRAY
SRR AT (RIS B ) L R
o RBEAELE - ARRESET 2 ERIBA
AEBEMES  FWNTES - HED BN
AAREEREIAR MR E A TR
A J 7 2 [ AR B e B S o s 5 9 4% LE R AR #E
BERRTERATRDE 2 SRERBELL
FIRRID + ()R B ERTERE S B S B SR E R AR 2 AR
PUTHE ¢ ) RER LB AER S BHR
8 B RIB R TR FIHE ¢ Ri)RHE
- TEEMBEIERS - AXNEERBE1.04TA
RMEBEMEIT)  BIEBIGES 8 RAEER
B R 490 2 () L fth B AR S 204 A 1B p SR AT 2
iR T M A FRITZRAEE - &%
A ETEBBALD TR D BITIRAZ0%  BR
B EEMMAI0F EE-E—ME Al -
AEBIEETHRTED - BESARSEH
BEARIE -
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16. Share capital, premium and share options - 16. A& - HERERE-£EE

Group and Company (continued) YNCIIE:))
(b)  Share options (continued) (b) BIREE)
Movements of the number of share options outstanding during the year and i ARfTEBAREEE K EBBENEFEHITEER
their related weighted average exercise prices are as follows: FERZEEMOT :
2010 2009
—E-EF —EENEF
Average Average
exercise exercise
price price
in HK$ Options in HK$ Options
per share  (thousands) per share (thousands)
KRBT BERRRE BRATT AR
FHTEE (F4) FITEE (F1»)
At 1 January n—H—H 1.38 30,770 1.38 31,010
Cancelled during the year FRNFEH - - 1.39 (240)
At 31 December R+-—A=+—H 1.38 30,770 1.38 30,770

All outstanding share options as at 31 December 2010 are exercisable (2009: R-ZT—ZTFE+_-A=+—H ' FIBEKRITEHNE
all 30,770,000 options are exercisable). R FATE(ZZEZENEF  PA30,770,00089HE
R R] F1TE)

Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the following expiry  fEEE 4B RIT(E R REAREN DB B MITEEWT -
dates and exercise prices:

Share options

MBAR
2010 2009
Exercise price —E-FE —ETNEF
HK dollar per share (thousands) (thousands)
Expiry date F#A BRBTITEE (F4) (F12)
May 2011 —ZT——%HH 1.39 16,000 16,000
June 2014 —ZT—MF A 1.37 14,770 14,770
30,770 30,770
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17. Other reserves - Group and Company 17. H{FE -SBRAT
(a) Group (a) &=
Share
Capital options
Statutory  redemption equity Currency
Capital ~ Contributed  reserves (i) reserve (iv) reserve Hedging translation
reserve () surplus (i AT RAEE BRE reserve reserve Total
RAGRG  BEBHG DR 0  RABE  HHRE  ENRR 3t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETR  ARETR ARETR  ARETz  ARMTn  ARETr  ARETR  ARETR
At1 January 2009 W-2BNE-A-H 685 9,500 10847 41 7611 6014 7 56,057
Employee share option scheme: L v HER
~Vialue of share options granted -RiERE BE - - - - 243 - - 243
~ Cancelation of share options —iEE - - - - (59) - = (59)
Transfer from retained eamings REBEHEE - - 355 - - - - 355
Cash flow hedges REnEHh
- Fair value gains during the year -FEATENR = - - - - 2,064 - 2264
Currency tranglation differences EiZR - - - - - - 0] 4]
Balance at 31 December R-EEhnE+-A
2009 =t-HzE&H 685 9,500 43202 | 7,796 (2,750) ] 58,852
At 1 January 2010 RZZ-FF-B-H 685 9,500 43202 4 7,796 (2,750) ] 58,852
Transfer from retained eamings RERHEE - - 3,882 - - - - 3,882
Cash flow hedges Remehn
- Fair valug gains during the year ~FEATFENE - - - - - 2,750 - 2,750
Currency tranglation dfferences ERES - - - - - - 3 3
Balance at 31 December R-B-BE+=R
2010 =t-HzE&8 685 9,500 47,084 N 7,796 - 29 65,515
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17. Other reserves — Group and Company (continued) 17. Hi@E -SER AR (#2)
(b) Company (b) AFE]
Capital Share options
redemption equity
Capital reserve (iv) reserve Hedging
reserve (i) RAEEE HBiE reserve Total
A () fikfH(iv) BRAGRE gty @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AR®T R ARET T AR®ET R ARET T
Balance at 1 January 2009 R-ESNF-A—HBz&6H 90,941 421 7,611 (5,014) 93,959
Employee share option scheme: EERRES
- Value of share options granted -REBREBE - - 243 - 243
- Cancellation of share options FEHRRRTIE = = (58) = (58)
Cash flow hedges REemeHT
— Fair value gains during the year —EEATENRS - - - 2,264 2,264
Balance at 31 December 2009 RZBEAFE+-A=+-H
pd =3 90,941 421 7,796 (2,750) 96,408
Balance at 1 January 2010 R-B-ZBF-A—-HAZ&HK 90,941 421 7,796 (2,750) 96,408
Cash flow hedges Beme
~ Fair value gains during the year —FEATEKE - - - 2,750 2,750
Balance at 31 December 2010 R-ZZ-ZF+-A=t—-H
iR 90,941 421 7,796 - 99,158

Notes: Fff3E

i) Capital reserve of the Group represents the difference between the nominal value (i) AREBENFERBRE _STNF - A+ BEA
of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the share exchange on 16 Pl B BT 8 A B AR 1 MO TET BB 3B AR A B B4 4T LABRER
February 2004 over the nominal value of the share capital of the Company issued in iR Z B AE{ER Z 48 o
exchange therefor.

Capital reserve of the Company represents the difference between the costs of AARERNEEERE-_STNF A+ BEH
investments in subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the share exchange on 16 February Fr U RS Bt 188 1 B B2 & A AR AR IR A B ZE T AR ER
2004 over the nominal value of the share capital of the Company issued in exchange g E 2 RAEERN =R -

therefor.

(ii) Contributed surplus represents the capital contribution from an executive director (i) BRRBHRMIERAR —BRTESREEEZRER
and an indirect substantial shareholder of the Company, as part of a group SESAELZEESE -
reorganisation exercise.

(i) According to the articles of association of the relevant subsidiaries established in (i) RARA T B AL 2 BRI E A R 2 B ERMA
Mainland China and the Mainland China rules and regulations, Mainland China Bl X AERE A B b AR Bl K R0 - AR B A b Y B R |
subsidiaries are required to transfer not less than 10% of their net profit as stated ASATHERIRR B Rt e ER R R 2 FE KR
in their annual financial statements prepared under Mainland China accounting KPP FERTDN0% - BAEERES * 5
regulations to statutory reserves before the corresponding Mainland China ALRATAR S - EAERESIEDH BB A Rl
subsidiaries can distribute any dividend. Such a transfer is not required when the BARE0%F + RIB/AREER - XEABSENA
amount of statutory reserves reaches 50% of the corresponding subsidiaries’ RIEEE BB ARER  mAEENB AR EE
registered capital. The statutory reserves shall only be used to make up losses of the FESIEME AN EARRAE - EEESEEHEA
corresponding subsidiaries, to expand the corresponding subsidiaries’ production AIZ AR E RS BB RERIAE - AJFRENE
operations, or to increase the capital of the corresponding subsidiaries. Upon RRIAEEATECEAAMER - WHIRREGR
approval by resolutions of the corresponding subsidiaries’ shareholders in general BB EHEREBLHEITAR RS NF
meetings, the corresponding subsidiaries may convert their statutory reserves into +=A=+—8 ' EfPtBEFR AR REFF
registered capital and issue bonus capital to existing owners in proportion to their REFXEREBRACNEE AESEEIZFMER
existing ownership structure. As at 31 December 2009, the amount of statutory 50% ABZE_ZT—ZTF+_A=1T—HILES
reserves of Xiamen Doingcom Chemical Co., Ltd. and Xiamen Sinotek Enterprise YRR o
Development Co., Ltd. had reached 50% of its registered capital and accordingly,
no further transfer to its statutory reserves has been made during the year ended 31
December 2010.

(iv) The capital redemption reserve relates to the cancellation of the Company’s own (i) A& BB Ol A B SH AR R R BRIV B ©
shares.

v) The Company’s other reserves totalled RMB280,999,000 (2009: RMB278,249,000)  (v) REREHERAEUEETA) » XARAHEHDIK

which, under the Company Law (revised) of the Cayman Islands subject to certain
conditions, are available for distribution to shareholders.

{18 # /5 280,999,000 T AR ¥ (Z T T hF
278,249,0007T ARHE) ©
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18. Borrowings - Group and Company 18. BE—S£EBEKAT
Group Company
&8 AT
2010 2009 2010 2009
—EB-2F —EENF —E-FF —ETNEF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT AR¥TT ARETTT
Non-current FEBNHA
Government loans BIFER 3,200 3,650 = =
Bank borrowings RITEE 181,620 96,469 144,620 56,469
184,820 100,119 144,620 56,469
Current ENHA
Government loans BISER 17,120 28,120 - =
Bank borrowings RITIEE 188,541 224,546 = 112,331
205,661 252,666 - 112,331
Total borrowings BEeHzm 390,481 352,785 144,620 168,800
Terms and maturity of the government loans are as follows: BT E R R EERHAT ¢
2010 2009
—E-—FF ZEENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBFIT
Repayable in 2011, non-interest bearing HR—E——FEE &8 10,000 =
Repayable in 2011 to 2018, interest-bearing at BN -—ZT——F & —F— \F/H
2.6% per annum B8 2 6EFFIETE 3,650 4,100
Repayable on demand, interest-bearing at 7.6% BNE{E& - A7.6/EEF|=51 5
per annum 6,000 7,000
Repayable on demand, non-interest bearing BNEfER + BB 670 20,670
20,320 31,770
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18. Borrowings - Group and Company (continued) 18. EBE-—KERQR#E)
The maturity of borrowings is as follows: BEZERENT
Group Company
£8 A HE]
2010 2009 2010 2009
—ET-ZF —TENF —E-FF —TTNAF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT ARETTT AR¥T T ARBETTT

Amounts repayable within a period of: 7B LA N EAREE

LI
- not exceeding one year —PNEBB—F 205,661 252,666 - 112,331
— more than one year but not ——FNE- B
exceeding two years BB E 92,760 76,919 72,310 56,469
— more than two years but not —MFENE -8B
exceeding five years THBBAF 90,660 21,350 72,310 -
— more than five years —RFERE 1,400 1,850 - -
390,481 352,785 144,620 168,800
The effective interest rates at the balance sheet date were as follows: NEE B ZERFERAT ¢
2010 2009
—E-ZF ZEENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBFIT
Government loans BRIFER 2.7% 2.0%
Bank borrowings RITEE 4.2% 3.6%
The carrying amounts of borrowings approximate their fair values. BERrREEEE N FERLRD -

The carrying amounts of the borrowings are denominated in the following ~ ERMERA SR TF|EB BB
currencies:

Group Company
5B AF]
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-—FF —EENF —E-FF —EENE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARET T AR¥T T ARETTT

Renminbi AR 192,029 171,770 - -
Hong Kong dollar BT 18,702 - - =
US dollar ETT 179,750 181,015 144,620 168,800

390,481 352,785 144,620 168,800
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18. Borrowings — Group and Company (continued)
The Group has the following undrawn borrowing facilities:

18. BE-—&K£EKQE(#E)
AEEE THIRIENERRE

2010 2009
—E-ZF ZEENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT

Floating rate S
— expiring within one year ——FREIH 271,456 8,309
— expiring beyond one year ——&F M -5 58,684 9,362
330,140 17,671

All bank borrowings are secured, among which bank borrowings of nil (2009:
RMB20,000,000) are secured by property, plant and equipment of the Group
(Note 7), bank borrowings of RMB159,541,000 (2009: RMB82,215,000) are
supported by the corporate guarantees provided by the Company, bank
borrowings of RM210,620,000 (2009: RMB238,801,000) are secured by
cross guarantees between subsidiaries.

The exposure of the Group’s borrowings to interest-rate changes and the
contractual repricing dates at the balance sheet dates are as follows:

FBIRITERHMEER - EREBRTER(ZEE
JLEF : 20,000,0007T A R ) AR E BRI - R
B MR (BaE7) R - $RITE 159,541,000
AR (ZZTZTAF : 82,215,000 A RE ) LAA
A ELH - B1TEF210,620,000TTARE (=
TETAF ¢ 238,801,0007T A R ) A F R AR E
ER o

REER @ AEBENERENXEFH NS NEH
FE B B HIFTAER ERANT

Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-=F —EENF —E-FF —ETNF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBETTT ARET T ARET T
6 months or less BfE A AT 366,831 328,685 144,620 168,800
6-12 months 6—121& A 20,450 20,450 - -
1-5 years 1—5%F 1,800 1,800 - -
Over 5 years 5F LA E 1,400 1,850 - -
390,481 352,785 144,620 168,800
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19. Trade payables and bills payable - Group 19. ENXERARENERE -£5F
2010 2009
—E-ZF —EThF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T R ARETTT
Trade payables JER R SRR 30,330 18,955
Bills payable ANEEE 126,777 53,869
157,107 72,824

The aging analysis of trade payables and bills payable is as follows: ERNRZZRARENRR ZIRESITAT
2010 2009
—E-ZF ZEENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARET T
0 to 30 days 0ZE30K 35,574 15,730
31 to 60 days 31260k 33,212 9,496
61 to 90 days 61290k 25,362 14,842
91 to 180 days 91E180K 62,645 32,262
181 to 365 days 1812365k 10 163
Over 365 days EBHRB65K 304 331
157,107 72,824

The carrying amounts of trade payables and bills payable approximate their ~ fEfI R Z IR 5 & E ZEREELEE A FEHR
fair values and are mainly denominated in RMB. H BEEUARBAREN -

20. Accruals and other payables - Group and 20. %%‘\l‘%ﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁb@ﬁﬁlﬁ—ﬁ
NG

Company
Group Company
£® AFE]
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-FF —ETNEF —E-EF —ETNEF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AREET T AR®T T AREET T

Payable for construction and FEftEREE M -

purchase of property, plant and BE K& EEA

equipment 3,300 3,189 - -
Output value-added tax payable FETSHTEILERL 2,478 5,697 = =
Accruals for FEET

— Administrative, selling and —{7H - HE KM%

marketing expenses HEER 12,931 15,816 2,439 1,834
— Government loan interest — BN ERF B 4,093 3,694 = -

22,802 28,396 2,439 1,834

The carrying amounts of other payables approximate their fair values and are ~ H A EIFRIEREBEEE A FEREEFZUA
mainly denominated in RMB. E#3I(E -
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21. Derivative financial instruments - Group and 21.

TEESRMTIA - KERAH

Company
Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-EF ZEENF —E-FF ZEENF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREETTT AR¥TT ARETTT
Interest rate swaps 1| 2= 4 B
— cash flow hedges —IReRELEH 668 2,750 668 2,750
Total St 668 2,750 668 2,750
Less non-current portion: TIERENEB 1 :
Interest rate swaps FIRFE—R S
— cash flow hedges ¥R - 917 - 917
Current potion RENELD 668 1,833 668 1,833

Trading and structured derivatives for non-hedging purposes are classified
as a current liability. The full fair value of a hedging derivative is classified as a
non-current liability if the remaining maturity of the hedged item is more than
12 months, and as a current liability if the maturity of the hedge item is less

than 12 months.

FEH 2 EEUNEBUETETADRERRBE
B - BREHIREE RGIERE12EA - B
HOTETENEBATESRRIERDEAE - M

H IR B R RIER AR A 1218 A

MEBEIE

CRIDER
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22. Deferred tax liabilities — Group 22, RERIE —£H

During the year ended 31 December 2009, deferred tax liabilities had RZ-ZTZAE+_A=1+—HFEE  KEED 7
been recognised for the withholding tax payable on the profits of the PRC ~ HA BB AR E —EENF—HA—HESZHNE
subsidiaries of the Group derived since 1 January 2008 using a tax rate of  Fl|i %k B B 5045 2 R H P15 AR 45 10% FY 7 R
10% (2009: 10%). The following amount is shown in the consolidated balance  (ZZZE N4 : 10%) ERIELEFRIBEREE - W44
sheet: BEBEXREZ250T

Deferred tax liabilities to be settled after more than 12 months BiE12fE A RE A EEFRIBEE

Withholding tax
RIMFr8HE
2010 2009
—E-FF —ETNEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARET T
At 1 January —A—H 10,500 13,500
Credited to the consolidated FEiRAWERER

income statement (Note 27) (fizE27) - (3,000)
At 31 December +=—A=+—~H 10,500 10,500

23. Other (losses)/gains - net 23. Hth(EB) W& FE
2010 2009
—E-FF —ETNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTT ARET T
Realised losses on interest rate swaps-net 2Rt HY 7 430 B 18 — B &8 (668) -
Income on government grants BT Z WA 386 200
Net exchange gains/(losses) (Note 28) THIE H e (&) (FzEes) 197 (745)
Others Hih (339) 803
(424) 258
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24. Expenses by nature 24, BRMUBEEIZHX
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETNEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREBT T
Amortisation of prepaid operating TEf AT S RS
lease payments (Note 6) (KisE6) 310 110
Depreciation (Note 7) e (HI=E7) 31,207 26,243
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 8) E A ERE (M) 11,096 8,668
Provision for/(reversal of) impairment of A ERERE,/ (Bm)
intangible assets (Note 8) (FI7E8) 6,000 (856)
Provision for/(reversal of) impairment of FERERE, (#E)
inventories (Note 12) (FEE12) 1,110 (5,977)
Write-down of inventories (Note 12) FEREE (H15E12) 332 1,396
Provision for impairment of trade receivables JE IR 22 5 IR TR (B B
(Note 13) (PfiEE13) 1,192 126
Reversal of impairment of other o fth fE UOIR SR B B ]
receivables (Note 14) (BMisE14) = (3,000)
Employee benefit expense (Note 25) EERFFAZ (HizF25) 28,900 27,425
Changes in inventories of finished SRk MAE R
goods and work-in-progress & 22,261 24,491
Raw materials and consumables used B AR EEFESR 537,048 427,046
Transportation B 13,069 10,440
Operating lease payments ZEMEHRS 4,033 3,769
Auditor’s remuneration [ Gillea 1,647 1,524
Other expenses HEmER 85,539 70,333
Total cost of goods sold, selling and EEEmMAAR - HER
marketing costs and TS EK A RITHE A
administrative expenses 743,744 591,738
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25. Employee benefit expense

25, EEEANEX

2010 2009
—E—FF —EENEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT
Wages, salaries, other allowances ITE& - e - AfhEhh
and benefits in kind KB = 26,926 24,828
Share options granted to directors BRY=EEkREEZ
and employees (Note 16) B A (i sE16) = 243
Pension costs — defined contribution RIREA - EREHR
plans (Note a) 121 (FisEa) 1,974 2,354
28,900 27,425

(a) Pensions - defined contribution plans

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Mainland China, the Group
contributes to a state-sponsored retirement plan for its employees in
Mainland China, which is a defined contribution plan. The Group and its
employees contribute approximately 6% to 14% and 0% to 4%, respectively,
of the employees’ salary as specified by the local government, and the
Group has no further obligations for the actual payment of pensions or post-
retirement benefits beyond the annual contributions. The state-sponsored
retirement plan is responsible for the entire pension obligations payable to
retired employees.

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees to join the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”), a defined contribution scheme
managed by an independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, each of
the Group and its Hong Kong employees makes monthly contributions
to the scheme at 5% of the employees’ earnings as defined under the
Mandatory Provident Fund legislation. Both the Group’s and the employees’
contributions are subject to a cap of HK$1,000 per month.

During the year, the aggregate amounts of the Group’s contributions to the
aforementioned retirement schemes were approximately RMB1,974,000
(2009: RMB2,354,000). As at 31 December 2010, the Group was not entitled
to any forfeited contributions to reduce the Group’s future contributions.

(@) BRAEEZA - EEMAKGE
RETBEAMER  AEERETERNBERR
BRRBA 2 ERBEFRAKEBIENR - ARERE
BESRIZBITBNMEEZREFHFEHONE
14% K 0% E4% K - BIEHFEHEF - K&
EHABARERNERASIRARREN 2E
T - BRBAIZRA S EAERN TRNER
Z— PRI EALE ©

AEEELHERAEE2EBREUEAAER
2 EREERA R EABSE ([BESET
gl - BEEERE - AEERAEBBEEER
T RARBRFIERATESGIIMEE 2 EEKRAS%
EEMFEMER  MAEBEREESTAHEKLER
1,000 7T °

REE - AEBEHH EMRKESFT 8 2 R R%E
#9741,974,0007c AR B (ZZZ 1L : 2,354,000
TARE) RZZ—ZF+-A=+—80 4%
B E R UHE R A B D BB HK -
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25. Employee benefit expense (continued) 25. EEEFNBAXE)
(b) Directors’ emoluments (b) EEWE
The remuneration of each director for the year ended 31 December 2010 is #HE_Z—ZFE+_A=+—BIFE -
set out below: ZMESETT
Salaries,
other Retirement
allowances benefit-
and benefits defined
in kind contribution
e plans
Name of Director Fees H2a, BAREF—
EEMZ e RENEF ERRHRETE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Total
“st
RMB’000

AR¥TR AR®BTT ARBFT AR¥T R

Executive directors HITES
Mr. Yang Yirong HREEE - 1,786 10 1,796
Mr. Gong Xionghui BRI A - 708 9 717
Ms. Lu Jiahua ERELL - 904 9 913
Mr. Lin Like MO &4 - 896 8 904
Mr. Han Huan Guang BECLEE - 1,148 10 1,158
Non-executive director FHITES
Mr. Feng Tao HREE = = = -
Independent non-executive BIUFHTES
directors
Mr. Yau Fook Chuen ERELE 189 15 - 204
Mr. Wong Yik Chung, John ERBEE 189 15 - 204
Mr. Zheng Lansun BRE L E - = = =
378 5,472 46 5,896
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25. Employee benefit expense (continued) 25. EEREMNEX#)
(b)  Directors’ emoluments (continued) b) EE=Be(E)
The remuneration of each director for the year ended 31 December 2009 is (2 ETAF+_A=+—HIFE SFF
set out below: 2SI AT
Salaries,
other Retirement
allowances benefit- Share
and benefits defined options
in kind contribution granted to
e plans directors
Name of Director Fees H 28k BIREF— RYEE Total
E=A we REWREN EEEREE 2B wEr
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETT AR®TE ARETT ARET:R

Executive directors HITES
Mr. Yang Yirong TR AE - 1,501 10 5 1,516
Mr. Gong Xionghui BIE A - 712 9 - 721
Ms. Lu Jiahua EREZL - 713 9 = 722
Mr. Lin Like MhREE - 715 8 38 761
Mr. Han Huan Guang BRI A - 1,160 11 38 1,209
Non-executive director FHITES
Mr. Feng Tao BELYE - - - 38 38
Independent non-executive BIYFHTES
directors
Mr. Yau Fook Chuen EREEE 190 15 - 5 210
Mr. Wong Yik Chung, John ERBEE 190 15 - 5 210
Mr. Zheng Lansun BB E - = = 5 5
380 4,831 47 134 5,392
Note: PR -
None of the directors waived any emoluments during the year ended 31 December 2010 (2009: HE=ZT—ZTF+-A=+—HILFE ' WEESHETM
Nil). e (ZTThF : &) -
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25. Employee benefit expense (continued)

(c) Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for the
years ended 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2009 exclusively comprise
the five highest paid directors whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis
presented above.

During the years ended 31 December 2010 and 2009, no emoluments were
paid to the directors or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to
join or as compensation for loss of office.

25. EEEANEXZ®)

() AEREHAL

AREFHE - Z—ZF+_A=1+—HAK_ZTZT
NF+_A=Z=+—BLEFEZRERRHFALTZ
MEEREEREREXSTRNZ AZHaHES °

HE_ZZFR-_TTNF+-_RA=+—H1t
FE  WERAQRRESSIZAGRATATS
HERME - 1EAWSIEINE 2 2 ERBER
ZfH1E -

26. Finance income and costs 26. REWARKA
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARET T
Interest expense on: FIEFAXE
— Bank borrowings wholly repayable —HRAFAZHERZ
within five years RITEE (18,594) (19,196)
— Government loans wholly repayable —HARAEFAZEEEZ
within five years B E R (399) (529)
— Government loans not wholly repayable —EENAFATHEEY
within five years BITE - (106)
Net foreign exchange gains on R A E B8 E H W (P EE28)
financing activities (Note 28) 1,687 188
(17,306) (19,643)
Less: amount capitalised on qualifying assets o ABREEE MM EEE 2,527 1,425
Finance costs A& A A (14,779) (18,218)
Finance income BE WA
— Interest income on short term — RHRRI TR BURA
_______ bankdeposits | . 28@ = 218
Net finance costs FRVE R (11,906) (16,036)

Finance cost capitalised during the year have been calculated by applying
a capitalisation rate of 5.2% (2009: 6.1%) per annum on expenditure of

qualifying assets.

R-ZE—ZF  AERENHBMERNERE
BEERX Z52%(ZBFNE : 6.1%) °
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27. Income tax expense 27. FiSHiBX
2010 2009
—E-EF —ETNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AREET T
Current tax RARIA
— Mainland China enterprise income tax — R A ZE TSR 22,108 16,296
Deferred tax (Note 22) FEIEFRIA (I5E22)
— Reversal of withholding tax on profits of —hE B AR A EET
the PRC subsidiaries AT RAFrASH
# o = (3,000)
22,108 13,296

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Hong Kong profits tax
No Hong Kong profits tax has been provided as the Group had no assessable profit
arising in or derived from Hong Kong.

Mainland China enterprise income tax

The subsidiaries established in Xiamen, Fujian Province, Mainland China are subject
to Mainland China enterprise income tax at a rate of 22% (2009: 20%). In August
20083, Xiamen Doingcom was accredited as a New High Technology Enterprise
and accordingly is exempted from payment of enterprise income tax for two years
starting from year 2003. In November 2006, Xiamen Doingcom transformed itself
from a domestic enterprise to a wholly foreign owned enterprise. It has obtained
approval from Mainland China Tax Bureau to be exempted from enterprise income
tax for two years starting from the first year of profitable operations, followed by
a 50% reduction in enterprise income tax for the following three years. Xiamen
Doingcom has commenced to enjoy its tax holiday in year 2007.

On 16 March 2007, the Fifth Plenary Session of the Tenth National People’s
Congress passed the Corporate Income Tax Law of the People’s Republic of China
(“the New Tax Law”) which took effect on 1 January 2008. From 1 January 2008,
the income tax rate for the operating subsidiaries mentioned above will be gradually
changed to the standard rate of 25% over a five-year transition period. According
to the Circular 39 passed by the State Council on 26 December 2007, the tax
exemption and reduction will be terminated latest by 2012.

Overseas income taxes

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and,
accordingly, is exempted from Cayman lIslands income tax. The Company’s
subsidiaries established in the British Virgin Islands are incorporated under the
International Business Companies Acts of the British Virgin Islands and, accordingly,
are exempted from British Virgin Islands income tax.

Mainland China value-added tax

The subsidiaries established in Mainland China are subject to Mainland China value-
added tax (“VAT”) at 17% (2009: 17%) of revenue from sale of goods in Mainland
China and entitled to a VAT export refund at 9% to 13% (2009: 8% to 13%) from
sale of goods outside Mainland China. Input VAT paid on purchases can be used to
offset output VAT levied on sales to determine the net VAT recoverable/payable.

Withholding tax

Pursuant to the New Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared
to foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland
China. The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings
after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax
treaty between China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. Withholding taxes
are payable on dividends distributed/to be distributed by those subsidiaries and an
associate established in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from 1
January 2008.

MaE
(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

BRREH
NG BB BB S S RV SR B A
LI AR BB RIS AE B -

h B A 3t R S FTS B

A E A EREE B PR 2 B A RIZAR22%
(ZZTNF  20%) ZRER AP B A RS
B —TBTR=FN\F  EFIRHCBRAAERR
REAMEMEE  HiEe T RRHND
EREHME - —TTRF+—H - BEF e
BERARMABECEEASINEDE - W AESS
RIS B B B AR FE RSN E XS
BME - B =6 2 CEFREHADRF - B dH
LBERARE_TTLFMAZATRES -

R-ZTLE=A+RA  ETEEZEARKERA
BERREHBBN _ZTN\F— A —HBITH
(hEARAMBEEMEBENHBIE]) - 8=
ZTN\F-A—BE  LEBERBRARMRESF
BEHNE S EERRERIEY o RIEHEBRER =
TRLFE+— AN BBNBEIASMREA - B
RHR IR RBRN T ——F#KIE -

IS
ARAREHAEFSATDEEREHRETMARILS
ERRERAR  EHERCBNHAEHBME
B o AR BIE R B L 2B B B A R TR
R X R SRR A BRI - FU R
REBREBRE LB S PIEM

B P 1t B {E B

R B At B S B BB A B 4E AR B At e B S s
ERZBABDRIEATH(ZETNE  17%)
B B ER ([SES ) - BEEOHES
A Z 2 ERHORRAOFBGRF R AI%ZE13%
(2009 : 8%ZE13%)) ° stE AU B FERHEERF
RS - EREERE SN 2 TR (E R AT R (R B L R
Bl 2 IR AT -

RIFTER

REHFHE - BT\ F—H—Hi - BFPES
ARSI E B BB FEIZ10% M B R KBTS
Bio WAESW-ZTENF—A—HRER  W#E
AR-ZBTLF+ - A=+ A ZRAEEN K
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ERMNHRER10% - At - BE—FF/\F—A—H
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27. Income tax expense (continued)

The tax on the Group’s profit before income tax differs from the theoretical
amount that would arise using the relevant enterprise income tax rate in
Mainland China, where substantially all of the Group’s profit was earned, and
the reconciliation is as follows:

27. SRR #)

DAZS S R P S BLAT R RIS B 2 BUIR - BIRIRA
BT SBA AR R BAAR 2 Rt
ERSHBEH 2 RRBEAER  WIRMT

2010 2009
—E-EF —ETNEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Profit before income tax & P15 %5 Al v ) 152,177 120,978
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates LR & NEA 2
applicable to profits in AR F R E 7 B8
the respective countries 20,854 15,771
Expense not deductible to tax BN ER 660 -
Income not subject to tax BERBUA = (1,050)
Under provision in previous year LARTE E Z 5T 2 FTiSHt 1,383 -
Reversal of withholding tax on FRMBARIZREBETINZ
dividends of the PRC subsidiaries HRANFT1S B R - (3,000)
Utilization of previously unrecognised FERERIARERNFTIE
tax losses (1,581) -
Tax losses for which no deferred W EERIELEE B E
income tax asset was recognised FTEE A TR IR 518
tax losses 792 1,575
Income tax expense FriSHIRM X 22,108 13,296
The weighted average applicable tax rate was 13.7% (2009: 13.0%). BRAMELEABEEARBI1BT% (ZEZENF

As at 31 December 2010, the Group has unrecognised tax losses of
approximately RMB99,072,000 (2009: RMB103,435,000), which can be
carried forward to offset against future taxable income. Included in the tax
losses as at 31 December 2010 was a loss of RMB17,398,000 (2009:
RMB25,423,000) that will expire during the period from 2011 to 2015 (2009:
2010 to 2014), while other losses can be carried forward indefinitely. The
deferred tax benefit of such tax losses has not been recognised as it is not
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the unutilised
tax losses can be utilised, or the amounts attributable to specific subsidiaries
are insignificant.

13.0%) °

RZZE—ZTF+_A=+—8 ' AEBERER
TR 75 B 18 4999,072,000 T AR EE(ZZE TR N.F ¢
103,435,000 7T A R ¥ ) + 7] £ 88 #K §5 K oK & =%
BMPA c RZE—BFF+_A=+—BZHEH
BBEEIE17,398,000 L ARB (ZTT NF :
25,423,000t ARE) - HEHFR T ——F &
—E-RAF(ZEENGF  ZF-EFE T
F)FEm - EtERRIERBLEE - HRITT
BERREERB @A e ARE A 2 RIS EE
Y - e REERTFARMARE - Atk
HLF TS B8 2 IR TR A F o5 W AR FER AR ©
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28. Net foreign exchange gains/(losses)
The exchange differences credited/(charged) in the consolidated income
statement are included as follows:

28. EHUW(F5E)FE
ERAUSERLA (1B MEN ZE0IEE
TFIEA P:

2010 2009

—E-FF —EThF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%T AREBTIT

Net exchange gains/(losses) (Note 23) SHIE HES(518) (B sE23) 197 (745)
Net foreign exchange gains from REE R B A EE e

financing activities (Note 26) (Ki7£26) 1,687 188

1,884 (557)

29. Profit attributable to equity holders of the
Company

The profit attributable to equity holders of the Company is dealt with in the
financial statements of the Company to the extent of RMB7,314,000 (2009:

profit RMB4,426,000).

30.
Basic
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing profit attributable to equity
holders of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
in issue during the year.

Earnings per share

AT ERETE ARG

RARRMBERREEZARAERIZTEA
e E A A7,314,000 T ARBE (Z TN EF -
4,426,000 AR -

29.

30. ERER
=X

BERERBMNTIRBEAR RS A ARG RN
BRERND BT E BB TFORETE -

2010 2009
—E-—FF ZEENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBFIT

Profit attributable to equity holders of AAEE=EE ARG R
the Company (RMB’000) (AR¥ETT) 130,103 107,471

Weighted average number of B TS R NE T

ordinary shares in issue (thousands) (FB%) 465,210 465,210
Basic earnings per share (RMB per share) HREREF (BRARE) 28.0 Centsfll 23.1 Centsflll

Diluted

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares. The dilutive potential ordinary shares of the
Company mainly comprise the share options. A calculation is made in order
to determine the number of shares that could have been acquired at fair value
(determined as the average monthly market share price of the Company’s
shares) based on the monetary value of the subscription rights attached to
outstanding share options. The number of shares calculated as above is
compared with the number of shares that would have been issued assuming
the exercise of the share options.

#E

FRESRNRRMAE TN EE L BRI
B®ig - RIEEHTEBROMEFOREGE -
ARRAHEENEEE BRI ZBEMBBRE - R
BARITEBRERMNREENESEER  BX
BRAHE(BERAARBMDOFHAETE) A
BANKNEAE - A LT AFENRNEKE
HERBEETEMRE HTNRMOBKE FEHL
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30. Earnings per share (continued)

30. BKRER )

Diluted (continued) wEE)
2010 2009
—E-ZF —TTNEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AREBT T
Profit attributable to equity holders RATERFTAA
of the Company (RMB’000) L BRI (AREFIT) 130,103 107,471
Weighted average number of ordinary BEITERRR
shares in issue (thousands) pniEFEHE(F5T) 465,210 465,210
Adjustments assuming the exercise of BRI TR AR
share options (thousands) (F5H) 11,292 4172
Weighted average number of ordinary STESREERTN
shares for diluted earnings per share TR Ay IntE
(thousands) FEE(FE) 476,502 469,382
Diluted earnings per share (RMB per share) SR EE R T (SRR ARE) 27.3 Centsfll 22.9 Centsfll
31. Dividends 31. RE

During the year ended 31 December 2010, a final dividend for the year ended
31 December 2009 of RMB12,274,000 (HK3 cents/share) (2009: 2008 final
dividend of RMB11,888,000 (HK2.9 cents/share)) and an interim dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2010 of RMB3,583,000 (HK0.88 cents/share)
(2009: 2009 interim dividend of RMB3,279,000 (HKO.8 cents/share)), were
paid by the Company, totalling RMB15,857,000 (2009: RMB15,167,000).

A final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2010 of HK3.8
cents per share, totalling approximately of RMB15,434,000, is to be proposed
at the forthcoming annual general meeting. These financial statements do not
reflect such dividend payable.

REBEE-_ZT—ZF+_A=+—BHILFER -
KA A 15,857,000 t AR (ZZEZT 1

F 15,167,000 A RE) 2IRE + D RIBEE
12,274,0007t AR (FE3E) 2 —TZNFR

HIRE B (T A4 : 11,888,0007T A R (F
2.9%8(l) 2 ZTT N\ F KRR B ) F13,583,0007T
AR (ZR0.88HBI) 2 —ETNEFHRE (=
TTRE ¢ 3,279,000t A RE (FK0.8751) 2
ZETNFFRERE) ©

REVERIT 2 RFBERE L FRBE—F —
ZE+ A=+ BRI FERRRREFHKI.8
AL - & $£#%915,434,000TT ARKE » IR HRKR I
BB RIS

2010 2009
—E-2F —ZTTAEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARET T
Interim dividend paid of HK0.88 cents ERFHREERE AR

(2009: HKO0.8 cents) per ordinary share 0.88/BL(ZZFZTNAF : 0.871L) 3,583 3,279

Proposed final dividend of HK3.8 cents BRI S B AR I @ AR3.87E L
(2009: HK3.0 cents) per ordinary share (ZZEZNF : 3.08() 15,434 12,274
19,017 16,5668
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32. Cash generated from operations

32. REEKELCZES

2010 2009
—E-ZF —TThEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
Profit for the year ANE i T 130,069 107,682
Adjustments for: TSR
— Income tax expense (Note 27) — P A (f3E27) 22,108 13,296
— Depreciation (Note 7) — & (FF5E7) 31,207 26,243
— Amortisation of: — BT RIR
— Land use rights (Note 6) — - Hh{sE A (Ffi3E6) 310 110
— Intangible assets (Note 8) —ER B E (ME8) 11,096 8,668
— Provision for/(reversal of) impairment of — BB ERERE (BE)
intangible assets (Note 8) (FfF5E8) 6,000 (856)
— Loss on disposal of property, plant —HEWE  BMEMAREZ
and equipment (see below) BB (R T30 4 15
— Income on government grants — IR Z WA (386) (200)
— Employee share option costs (Note 25) — & B MR IER AN (MI3E25) = 243
— Interest income (Note 26) —F B A (FfzE26) (2,873) (2,182
— Interest expense on bank borrowings —RITEBEERBINERZ
and government loans (Note 26) F B (Ki7E26) 16,466 16,272
— Realised loss on interest rate swap-net — M= B~ B30 B — B EE 668 -
— Impairment of available-for-sale financial — A HESREERERE
assets (note 11) GESRD) 200 -
Changes in working capital: HEESH
— Inventories —FE (43,313) 3,962
— Trade receivables — R B IR (87,086) (11,221)
— Prepayments and other receivables — FEAS RIB R A IR SR IE (54,110) 36,005
— Pledged bank deposits —BERIRITER (30,839) 10,242
— Trade payables and bills payable —ENRBIRA R ENRIE 84,283 3,060
— Accruals and other payables —FERTE R R H M FERFRIE (5,594) (3,464)
Cash generated from operations RERBELE RS 78,210 207,875

In the consolidated cash flow statement, proceeds from disposal of property,

plant and equipment comprise:

RiFERERER  HEVE  BMERREME
£

FIREIEA T IR

2010 2009

—E-FF —ZEThF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T ARET T

Net book amount (Note 7) REFE(MIRET) 4 15

Loss on disposal of property, plant HEDE  BMEMEREZ

and equipment E518 4) (19)
Proceeds from disposal of property, LEME - BE MBS KA

plant and equipment = -
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33. Commitments 33. &iE
(a) Capital commitments (a) BAEIE
2010 2009
—E-ZF —TTNEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARET T
Authorised and contracted BB R AT A B R B
but not provided for
— Construction-in-progress and property, —HERTRUARYE -
plant and equipment W N A 10,590 9,009
- Product development projects —EmfAEE 12,700 10,400
— Land use rights — b 1,915 1,915
25,205 21,324

(b) Operating lease commitments

The Group leases certain premises under non-cancellable operating lease
agreements in respect of property, plant and equipment. The lease have
varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights. The lease expenditure
expensed in the consolidated income statement during the year is disclosed
in Note 24.

The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases are as follows:

(b) AEERNRE
AEERBZH A HELEBOHEHEES T
Y - ZEMO 2GR - e ARGRRELE
FT— o FARGE N EEH 2 HERZ W
24K FE -

REBRBEIIHECEROZ RRKERS L
FEAOR :

2010 2009

—E-EF ZEThF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT ARET T

Not later than 1 year BB —F 3,334 2,772
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years BE—FETNBEARF 4,006 5,770
Later than 5 years BiRAF 12,000 15,360
19,340 23,902

34. Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2010, the Group had no significant contingent liabilities.

As at 31 December 2010, the Company has provided corporate guarantees
in respect of banking facilities granted to certain subsidiaries amounting to
RMB343,641,000 (2009: RMB103,242,000).

34. BAREE
R-TB—TE+-A=+—0  AEEHETM
BAZHARAME -

RZZE—ZTF+_A=+—8  ARARRRTE
L B8 /A B1343,641,000T A R (TN F ¢
103,242,000t A RE ) BISR1TRAE REEEH AR
IR -
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35. Related party transactions
The Company is 42.0% owned by Marietta Limited (incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands) which is owned by Mr. Yang Yirong.

The following transactions were carried out with related parties:

35.

BREALXRS

RNAF42.0%EHH—EERREERHA 2 HE
BB ML 2 A 5] —Marietta Limited# & ©

T BEBREALTETZ

(a) Key management compensation (a) TEEEBEAESHE
2010 2009
—E-FF —ETNEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFTT
Salaries and other short-term He REMEHES R
employee benefits 6,529 5,902
Share-based payments ARG R B E e S A+ - 134
6,529 6,036
(b) Details of the amount due to a director are: (b) EBN—EEFEHEBOT ¢
2010 2009
—E-—FF —EENE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R AREFIT
Mr. Yang Yirong BRI E 962 996

Balances with directors were unsecured and non-interest bearing, and are
repayable on demand.

No advances were made to Mr. Yang Yirong during the year ended 31
December 2010 and 31 December 2009.

BV AHARERARE RARENRER

BHE—Z

E—EE+_A=+—HBR-ZEZNF

TZA=+T—HALFE  AREALEAHREL
HEEFOA °
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MBEBE

Results E4
Year ended 31 December
BE+-—A=1+—HLEFE
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
ZETREF  ZETHF  ZEEN\FE IZTTAF —E2-EF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETRT ARETE ARETT | AR%TR
Turnover 532,975 612,159 739,973 728,494 908,251

Operating profit 105,592 140,119 140,745 137,014 164,083
Finance costs (1,175) (2,071) (6,776) (16,036) (11,906)
Profit before income tax KR PTS R ATR A 104,417 138,048 133,969 120,978 152,177
Income tax expense FriS®t (8,982) (7,514) (19,513) (13,296) (22,108)
Profit for the year ANE @ T 95,435 130,534 114,456 107,682 130,069
Dividends e 14,226 19,297 16,818 15,553 19,017
Attributable to: FE(L -
Equity holders of RRFRE=RBA
the Company 95,440 130,465 114,237 107,471 130,103
Non-controlling interests IEEFIERE RS 5) 69 219 211 (34)
95,435 130,534 114,456 107,682 130,069
Financial Positions B EEAR SR
Year ended 31 December
BE+t-A=1+—HLEE
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
—ETREF  ETF ZTEN\F ZTTNF | ZE-FF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTFIT ARETT ARETT ARETT | AR¥ET:R
Non-current assets IERBEE 254,524 386,327 444,040 453,365 461,494
Current assets MBEE 540,371 564,742 773,620 862,757 1,087,770
Total assets EERE 794,895 951,069 1,217,660 1,316,122 1,549,264
Total equity i 533,060 663,807 748,972 843,985 960,978
Non-current liabilities FERBBEE 11,698 58,121 242,970 111,536 195,320
Current liabilities nBaE 250,137 229,141 225718 360,601 392,966
Total liabilities B BB 261,835 287,262 468,688 472,137 588,286
Total liabilities and equity wEERER 794,895 951,069 1,217,660 1,316,122 1,549,264
Net current assets MBEESE 290,234 335,601 547,902 502,156 694,804
Total assets less BEER
current liabilities mENAE 544,758 721,928 991,942 955,521 1,156,298
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